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Dear Fellow Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Moiselle
International Holdings Limited (“Moiselle” or the “Company”), |
present the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (which
are collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31

March 2024 (the “Year”).

MARKET OVERVIEW

The business environment remained volatile and complicated
during the Year. The post-COVID-19 pandemic recovery fell short
of expectations. Interest rates stayed at high levels as major
central banks of some developed countries tried hard to rein in
the irrepressibly high inflation. Geopolitical tensions were
escalating. In China, the government was still endeavouring to
revive the economy and, specifically, to cope with the ongoing

crisis in the property sector.

Although China met the gross domestic product growth target in
2023, its economy had yet to be strengthened enough to restore
consumer confidence. Its currency renminbi weakened against the
United States dollar as the Chinese government needed to cut
interest rates to stimulate the economy and boost trade amid the
strained Sino-United States relations. The weakened Chinese
currency affected the buying power of the outbound Chinese

tourists.

Annual Report 2024 44 #i



FREABRELEIGFEBRENEBAZE AW FEK
BEREZEDSNAROEZRBAKT - EERZERE :
BE CECCZFENGBREABENREBEE-ZE-LFE
BREAIKFHN60% - B ARBES  URBERNE
ERMEMSBAL  THENAEREEREAR BE
ARFHEEEIREBAEMTE Lo MREE
REFRBAEMIEBY - H=  FEERIL LPEARMBIKE
HECHANRE  HAMTERERATETEXTE -

At - EBRTEANEHSHBEZETSEHERTEME -

BREESERMEBARBNTEN  DFTFEHMEAER
ERBERETE BREAODZLBE  SIUFE—-RDY
HEEER #ANEETARREREKFRANBEEET
B ADZRLEREARS  UREBRSE BEFEBRd
REBLEEANRNERE - DEFE-—RKRERENE
EEFRINPEANEY  ARIFAAEANRERER
HEER ERNETXERMSEENLHEZEK -

Annual Report 2024 4FJE4F #

EN % &5
Chairman’s Statement

In Hong Kong, where Mainland Chinese tourists accounted for a
significant majority of the city’s visitor arrivals, both the tourism
and retail market had yet to recover to the pre-pandemic levels.
For one thing, the visitor arrivals in Hong Kong in 2023 only
recovered to about 60% of the pre-pandemic level in 2019.
Secondly, there were decreases in the number of the Mainland
Chinese tourists in Hong Kong and in terms of their buying power
and the average transaction size compared with the pre-pandemic
levels due to the weaker renminbi and the bleaker business
outlook and employment prospect; their interest also shifted more
to sightseeing from shopping. Thirdly, the growing trend of Hong
Kong's residents’ northbound cross-border travel to Mainland
China for relaxation and consumption also affected the city’s local

retail and catering markets.

As a result, the high-end apparel retail markets of Hong Kong and
Mainland China had yet to fully recover.

In addition to the impact of the macroeconomic and geopolitical
situation, a number of other factors have also been reshaping the
fashion apparel industry in recent years, including demographic
trends such as the emergence of a younger generation of
consumers whose consumption behaviour and preferences are
different from those of the older generations; population aging
and longer life expectancy; and the advent of information
technologies such as the internet, electronic commerce and social
media. Catering to the preferences of both the younger generation
and the youthful, energetic middle-aged people with longer life
expectancy as well as making full use of the information
technologies to promote and sell the products are the way

forward for the industry.

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % i#¥ B B 4 [ # L 2 #

5



F

Chairman’s Statement

ES |
REZIEERRTESERTEEL TR - B\
EhmE2t ERESHFEFEFNER  TEEERS
MHELDSFE-—KEFNRTRE -RAFE  ARE
BRTEAMNSEREZETSHATENEERER
BAIKT  RFNAREEE AEARERAFERALN
61%MER RETEMSEZHRE  BREABER
MBEIBRBBRRABATRE -

REERAKFEEHBEIEL49,000,0008 7T BEE=-Z
“=FZA=+-—AuUMNE—EARBREE (L —@ESKE
EDWEBBEEMEMN HEXBEER7%ZE4137,000,000
BT o REBE EAK17%E£29,000,0008 7T o

AEERTRMBETESNEERAFERBESZ -ABE
R IR R 18%Z #984,000,00058 7T ; REBFIEKH
Wm B EZEHEILNEEM T H%26%ZE4 11,000,000/
T RHPER HEEELEATEME  UKEMHE
MARBEBAES  BREAEEPEREERNREE
PR E4931,000,0008 7T ; REE  NEBBEHRE
EFECEMNME UARIMAEHERNERE  HRNEHKY
Wi EFH14%ZE 411,000,000 7T °

REEBREBNEBLEREN61%  MHRPEABAE
BAMEH23% ; B R AEBNEB DB SMEWE 8% °
ENRRAFER8I% MR E—BEHRFERR73% -

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % i B B 4 M & R 2 5

RESULTS

Moiselle mainly engages in retailing women’s fashion apparel to
high-end and upper-middle markets. To adapt to the changes in
the market, it has also been gearing itself more towards the
design and sale of on-trend apparel targeted at the younger
generation of customers while catering to the preferences of the
middle-aged customers. For the Year, Moiselle still recorded a
loss because the retail markets of Hong Kong and Mainland
China for high-end apparel had yet to fully recover to the
pre-pandemic levels. In Hong Kong, where the Group derived
about 61% of its total sales revenues, the apparel retail market
was improving gradually but the Mainland Chinese tourists had
lower buying power than they used to have before the pandemic

outbreak.

For the year, the Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$49
million, with increase in loss as compared with that in the
previous financial year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Previous
Financial Year”), and its turnover increased by 7% to
approximately HK$137 million. Operating loss increased by
about 17% to approximately HK$29 million.

The Group’s operations in various geographical markets had
uneven performances for the Year. Its operations in Hong Kong
recorded an 18% increase in revenue to approximately HK$84
million; its revenue from Macau dropped by 26% to
approximately HK$11 million as its business there was affected
by the relocation of its stores; revenue from its operations in
Mainland China decreased slightly to approximately HK$31
million because consumer confidence had yet to fully recover
and the weaker local currency renminbi against the Hong Kong
dollar resulted in a slight decrease in revenue; the Group’s
revenue from Taiwan rose by 14% to approximately HK$11
million due to relocation of stores to more suitable spots and the

operations’ strengthened management there.

The Group’s operations in Hong Kong accounted for about 61%
of its revenue while those in Mainland China contributed to
about 23%; operations in Macau and Taiwan made up about 8%
each. Gross profit margin was 81% for the Year, compared with

the 73% for the Previous Financial Year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

To cope with the fundamental changes in the fashion apparel
market and the complicated, volatile business environment, the
Group has repositioned its major house brand MOISELLE to cater
for the preferences and consumption patterns of a younger
generation of customers, sped up the development of its
electronic commerce business as a more cost-effective means of
sales and marketing with the help of social media, mobile
application and alliances with online shopping platform
operators, and pursued the strategy of running its store network
at an optimal minimum as part of its rationalization drive in the

past five years.

In the customer base, there has been a growing trend of a
predominance of the younger generation of consumers, who
prefer mid-range, on-trend fashion apparel of simpler design to
the classic one of elaborate design. Meanwhile, there is a
growing number of youthful, energetic middle-aged people with
longer life expectancy who also like trendy wear. The Group,
therefore, has repositioned its major house brand MOISELLE as a
brand that accentuates the beauty of Asian women’s silhouette
through two fashion lines, namely the classic and elegant
fashion apparel on the one hand and the on-trend, unique
fashion apparel that projects a youthful image on the other hand
since 2020. It also enriched the concept of its repositioning by
inventing a theme for marketing its seasonal collection which
was about manifesting the wearers’ personalities and
self-awakening in the financial year ended 31 March 2021. The
concept is summed up in a slogan “C’est MOI, MOISELLE” (“Z

FREFF" in Chinese).

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % i#¥ B B 4 [ # L 2 #

7



F

Chairman’s Statement

RUEFR-—RNEF  AEBEEKFE - RITHBIE—
AR REEEEFEMN ((SKUD) BTN HHEZE
CECERFCZRA=+-HLEMBFENN0%ENZESH
ECZ - —F=ZRB=1T—HLEMBFEEURY50%IL — &
BEKF RZBZ=ZF+—ARTZA  KxEEELHN
[M27 | BEBHOMOISELLIEZZE — N E4ERERRERT
HEBSOEEFENNER  AEAEER S -WFRL
EFHE ZERRIBESHERE  BHEIED
%E&#ﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%EKQWRMHﬁ&%E
&o EOAREENERENNBERERSGE £
ﬁMﬁE%ﬁE%ﬁwmﬁiﬂﬁxo

AEBTEMNBEHE I TERERITREDEEH
TORERTZER—SRERE RIEBRINRER
HRE PINEBEXERMES AEEEFHERESR
B MEAUEERFRLELBNVIPEEHREER BN
?ﬁ“ﬁ%ﬁﬁm HEEFFETHEMOISELLEFEN » #M
EERESEMNFEL  FREMZREBEEZEF o

ETEEAEER APtk 5 B B AR
REBRNEE Bt XREBHEBESESFEAHEYK
ERHBZPICERKSE AEEBTNAEEFEHEKRE
HE RETSEERTDH WEBEER URIBERP
BR -RBE-E--F=ZF=+—-BR=ZZF=-=F=H8
ET-BLEWEVRFE AEECHAR T WERALF
B DRRAEEEERLEHERIEEMOISELLEER  RABHE
BB EEM CONZEPTEEZmBE Tm.d.m.s. »

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % i B B 4 M & R 2 5

Gearing its products more towards the younger generation of
customers, the Group has increased the portion of mid-range,
on-trend and unique fashion apparel from about 30% of the total
number of stock keeping units (“SKU”) in the financial year
ended 31 March 2020 to the optimal level of about 50% since
the financial year ended 31 March 2021. In November and
December 2023, the Group launched the MOISELLE brand’s
special resort 2024 collection under the theme “M27” in more
than 50 SKUs to celebrate its 27th anniversary in year 2024. The
collection consisted of high-end, slim-fit vests, jackets and jeans
that featured patterns inspired by the phoenix coronet and
blue-and-white porcelain of the Ming dynasty. Overall, it
broadened both the product range and price range to better

meet the more varied wants and needs of the customers.

It also stepped up its marketing effort by holding three fashion
shows in Shenzhen, Guangdong province and one in Kunming,
Yunnan province. The Group’s latest deluxe fashion apparel
such as dresses and jackets were featured at the events. The
fashion shows not only served as a means of marketing products
to the VIP members of the Group’s customer club but also let
prospective landlords of high-end shopping malls to have a
better understanding of MOISELLE’s positioning. This would
enable the Group to choose locations for its stores where it
could zero in on target customers with a higher degree of

precision.

The Group is running an electronic commerce business to
capitalize on the growing trend of electronic commerce and
people’s increasing use of internet for obtaining information
about fashion trends. That business serves as a means of
boosting sales, conducting marketing campaigns, collecting
customer feedback and fostering customer relationships. The
Group had opened two online platforms respectively for the
marketing and sales of the MOISELLE products for its Hong Kong

operations and for the retailing of its diffusion lines under such

Annual Report 2024 44 #i
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brands as m.d.m.s., GERMAIN and LANCASTER for its Hong
Kong-based concept store, M CONZEPT, in the two financial
years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022. It also
continued to conduct short-term cooperation with an online
shopping website operator, OnThelList, which specializes in flash
sales to boost sales during the Year. In Mainland China, the
Group formed an alliance with one more leading Chinese
e-commerce company, JD.com, Inc. (“REREME" in Chinese) in
April 2023 to market and sell its products. Over the years, the
Group has been developing its electronic commerce business in
the country through its separate alliances with three local
electronic commerce website operators, namely CloudHappy
Mall (“EEEH" in Chinese), VIP.com which specializes in
online discount sales and is operated by Vipshop (“Mf&” in
Chinese) and Tmall. Such online platforms for sales and
marketing can be combined with the Group’s mobile
phone-enabled application to build up a customer base and

carry out precision marketing.

To strengthen its business presence in its various geographical
markets, the Group kept on rationalizing its retail networks there
and maintaining them to an optimal minimum. In Mainland
China, it basically maintained one store in each of the Mainland
Chinese cities where it operated, and rented shop spaces on
short leases which offered the Group more flexibility in
adjusting the scale of its store network. In Hong Kong, the
Group pursued the strategy of expanding its retail network at
prime locations with good prospect at reasonable rents. It aimed
to build up its stores in the city by improving their performance.
It also enhanced the shopping experience at its stores by
incorporating such elements as environmental awareness, quality
lifestyle and art into the interior decoration. As part of its sales
and marketing efforts, the Group conducted small-scale
handicraft courses at its stores with the aim of attracting more
new customers of a younger generation to both its on-trend and

high-end fashion apparel.
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OUTLOOK
Having undergone the harsh business environment for more than
three years, the apparel retail markets in which the Group is

operating may need to take more than two years to fully recover.

The business outlook has somehow stabilized even though it is
still clouded by a slower than expected post-pandemic recovery,
geopolitical tensions, the weaker renminbi, high inflation and

high interest rates.

The governments of both Mainland China and Hong Kong have
adopted a series of measures to stimulate the economy and
domestic consumption. Specifically, eight more Mainland
Chinese cities, mainly from the northern and western regions of
the country, have been added to the solo traveller scheme in
Hong Kong. Although the new measure has yet to prove its
effectiveness in reviving Hong Kong's retail market, it is still a

positive development.

It is against this backdrop that the Group will maintain its
prudent approach to business development while seeking to
broaden its income stream with a view to capitalizing on an
anticipated full recovery in the apparel retail market in the

future.

A turnaround in business hinges on growth in revenue. The

Group, therefore, will forge ahead with the following initiatives.

To bolster its business presence in Hong Kong and Mainland
China, the Group will open new shops at prime locations with
good prospect at reasonable rents. It will choose locations for its
stores where it could zero in on target customers with a higher

degree of precision.
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The Group will strengthen its electronic commerce business as a
means of boosting sales, conducting marketing campaigns,
collecting customer feedback and fostering customer
relationships. Its online shopping platforms can also help attract
more customers to its physical stores. The Group will also
expand its electronic commerce business in Mainland China by
forming alliances with more local online shopping platform

operators.

As part of its effort to broaden its income stream, the Group will
further develop the fashion apparel wholesale market in Canada

by selling to a distributor in Vancouver.

The Group will step up the training of its staff in its products’
characteristics and design concepts so that they can match the

pace of its development.

All these measures are aimed at enhancing the Group’s
competitive strength and adaptability to the changes in the
market. The Group will monitor closely the economic conditions
and fashion trends in the markets and may adjust the above

plans accordingly.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all our
shareholders and our fellow business partners for their support,
and our management and staff for their hard work and

dedication to the Group during the Year.

Chan Yum Kit

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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OVERVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Targeting the markets for luxurious and mid-range apparel, the
Group operates such house brands as MOISELLE, m.d.m.s. and
CERMAIN, while engaging in distributorship for international
brand LANCASTER. Each of the brands has its own distinctive
consumer base and is being developed separately by the
Group’s dedicated and talented designer teams for house brands.
The Group retails its products under the various brands at stores
in prime locations. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 32
stores and counters in Hong Kong, first- and second-tier cities of
Mainland China, Macau and Taiwan, the same as its number of
stores as at 31 March 2023. It closed some underperforming
stores but also opened some stores in places with good prospect

to rationalize its network of stores.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS BY LOCATION

Operations in Hong Kong

The Group’s operations in Hong Kong recorded an 18% increase
in revenue to HK$83,913,000 for the Year. The growth could be
attributed to a rebound in visitor arrivals in the city after the full
reopening of its border with Mainland China and the abolition of
all quarantine measures for inbound travellers on 1 April 2023.
However, the number of visitor arrivals in Hong Kong in 2023

was only about 60% of the pre-pandemic level in 2019.

Compared with the pre-pandemic levels in 2019, there were still
decreases in the number of the Mainland Chinese tourists in
Hong Kong and in terms of their buying power and the average
transaction size due to the weaker renminbi and the bleaker
business outlook and employment prospect. Moreover, their
interest also shifted more to sightseeing from shopping. Another
problem was the growing trend of Hong Kong residents’
northbound cross-border travel to Mainland China for relaxation
and consumption, which affected the city’s local retail and
catering markets. As a result, the Group’s business in Hong Kong

had yet to fully recover.
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Meanwhile, pressure of rising costs set in even after the
post-pandemic recovery fell short of expectations. Rents of shop
spaces at prime locations, especially the high-end shopping

malls, increased gradually. Cost of procurement also rose.

To cope with such problems, the Group has been rationalizing
its store network and actively developing its electronic
commerce business for the purposes of boosting sales and
conducting marketing campaigns. It also tried to broaden its
income stream by developing the fashion apparel wholesale
market in Canada during the Year. It started supplying goods to a

distributor in Vancouver in November 2023.

To strengthen its business presence in Hong Kong and to
capitalize on an anticipated full recovery in the local apparel
retail market in the future, the Group had been prudently
seeking for shop spaces with good prospect at reasonable rents.
Meanwhile, it kept its store network to an optimal minimum by
maintaining its presence mainly at high-end shopping malls in
prime locations. During the Year, the Group opened a MOISELLE
store in New Henry House in Central in May 2023. It had earlier
opened a store for an international brand LANCASTER at a
shopping mall called MOKO at a multicomplex named Grand
Century Place in Mong Kok in December 2022. The Group
continued to build up its stores in the city by improving their
performance. As part of its sales and marketing efforts, the
Group conducted small-scale handicraft courses at its stores with
the aim of attracting more new customers of a younger
generation to both its on-trend and high-end fashion apparel. To
tap the demand of Hong Kong residents on their northbound
travel to Mainland China, the Group also stepped up its
marketing campaigns targeted at the Hong Kong consumers at its

stores in some Mainland Chinese cities that they frequented.

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % i#¥ B B 4 [ # L 2 #

13



14

o B vt M o3

Management Discussion and Analysis

AEERERRESTAEER L - EERANGRNHEE
RE#EFN RBE-Z-_—-F=A=+—-HKR=ZZ=-Z
FZA=+-BLMEMBFERZTMEARLEE 2
BABHBBERLHEREEMOISELLFER  REBEEBM
RIEM CONZEPTEEZRMBIETm.d.m.s. ~ GERMAINE
BlF R RIANCASTERZEM ° lboh RAFE » A&H
T EEEPREREREREN —BRLLEYRLEE
BONThelisBEITIREIGIE » LMEEHE - KEETETF
AHRALBYFAEEERRLHEEMRTZ2ER AR
RITNEHEBZER EUBEBZSHLIBYTEEH
HREHEIDHULEEFEE NEBFHRBNEFHE
HEEENERTERREHTBNES -

BE-Z_HNEF=A=+—-—H HXEEKLEcH
MOISELLE ~ 2m.d.m.s. ~ 2B LANCASTERFI2 M
CONZEPTEEEH  URIBBES (BE-E-=F=A
=+ -8 ANEBLKEE7BMOISELLE ~ 28m.d.m.s. ~ 2
LANCASTERFI2FM CONZEPTEEEH  URIEES S

) °

Pl o it 5
AEBEPEAMERNBEREAEEEMRLZ
31,160,000 EREABEZNRENSEL  SHE
ERBEE PHEBRNNBEHIERLSE  LEREREEY
EHETERE EPEBEEABRNBERT  PETSEE
WERFHEENMEEES EMSARBEETES
b 25 2 7 5 [ 7 B R0 3 7 A LA B B TS B o

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % i B B 4 M & R 2 5

The Group continued to develop its electronic commerce
business as a more cost-effective means of sales and marketing.
It had already opened two online platforms respectively for the
marketing and sales of the MOISELLE products for its Hong Kong
operations and for the retailing of its diffusion lines under such
brands as m.d.m.s., GERMAIN and LANCASTER for its Hong
Kong-based concept store, M CONZEPT, in the two financial
years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022. Moreover, it
also continued to conduct short-term cooperation with an online
shopping website operator, OnThelList, which specializes in flash
sales to boost sales during the Year. The online shopping
platforms not only allowed the Group to sell out-of-season
products at discounts as well as the products specifically
designed for online sales, but also enabled it to proactively
conduct promotional campaigns and to maintain customer
relationships, namely by notifying its customer club members of
its latest offerings and promotional activities through their

mobile phones.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group operated 6 MOISELLE,
2 m.d.m.s., 2 LANCASTER and 2 M CONZEPT retail stores
as well as one outlet in the city (As at 31 March 2023, the
Group operated 7 MOISELLE, 2 m.d.m.s., 2 LANCASTER and
2 M CONZEPT retail stores as well as one outlet).

Operations in Mainland China

Revenue from the Group’s operations in Mainland China slightly
decreased to HK$31,160,000 during the Year. It was because
consumers remained cautious in view of the bleaker business
outlook and employment prospect. The Chinese government was
still endeavouring to revive the economy and, specifically, to
cope with the ongoing crisis in the property sector. It also
needed to cut interest rates to stimulate the economy and boost
trade amid the strained Sino-United States relations. This
resulted in a weaker renminbi against the United States dollar
and led to a slight decrease in revenue at the Group’s operations

in the country.
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The apparel retail market was highly competitive and leading
brands vied for prime locations at the top-ranking shopping
malls in cities. This year, landlords at the shopping malls
re-introduced a rental arrangement under which fixed rents and
certain percentages of the surplus revenue from sales were

charged. All these resulted in higher rents.

To cope with the volatile and complicated business environment
in the country, the Group pursued the strategy of keeping its
store network to an optimal minimum by basically maintaining
one store in each of the Mainland Chinese cities where it
operates. It also continued to rationalize its retail network in the
country. During the first half of the Year, the Group opened one
store in Wenzhou, Zhejiang province and one counter at a
department store in Guangzhou, but closed one store in Hefei,
Anhui province. In the second half of the Year, the Group
opened one store in Kunming, Yunnan province, and one store

in a high-end shopping mall in Nanjing, Jiangsu province.

To develop a store network that can better tap the consumer
demand, the Group collected feedback from consumers through
social media and its own online shopping platforms and
opinions from property management teams of shopping malls
whom it invited to its own fashion shows regarding its products.
The surveys afforded the Group a better understanding of
consumer preferences in various regions of the country. The
Group also conducted on-site visits to prospective shop spaces.
It would then be able to choose locations for its stores where it
could zero in on target customers with a higher degree of

precision.
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15



16

o B vt M o3

Management Discussion and Analysis

FEBOEEHNTEHEIE PR ==+ =
ZE_NMEF=ZAREAEEREFRYTERT=HRKER
CUHEEEEERTER-SRERE BTIEEFRN
EREHRNE AEEBFETHEFALIBHVIPEEN
RRE-EFTERTNSKBENBSNYESEEKS M
HERPIFERE KMo EEFE#EER  LEEBE
¥FE T HBMOISELLERIEAL ©

i

i

REETEAMEFEABNERBETE-SIEERE
FEER-B_=ZFHARSZ —RTEAELEFEBE AR
AREERVEE  UEENHEEEER - NBRHF
AEECHZIPLBYRLEEES BEZEEYH  ®
e R R D B AR o

BE _Z_NE=ZA=1+—H AEEREAKLE12HE
MOISELLEEEEH (B2 -_=F=HA=+—H0 118
MOISELLEZETEH) °

P ERK
AEBUARMBERBEEXEBRNRMEBEH AN
MOISELLETEfBIL » B THNEMMNER » HEXER
REETER26%ZE11,463,0008 7T ° FFHRMHKEEE
EX BEFREFERMNBEEELMAZE  AEBEH
hERBEEEREEEEMNERER - BE-Z T
F=ZA=+—H AEEREMLSE=F/EH  DURR
PIEL B BT A B9 — BIMOISELLER: — BLANCASTERE & JE
o ARMRBAERAEIE N — BMOISELLEFEE S
(BE=ZZ2-=F=ZR=+—H: —BMOISELLER — 8
LANCASTERZEJEH) °

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % i B B 4 M & R 2 5

As part of its marketing efforts, the Group held three fashion
shows in Shenzhen, Guangdong province in October 2023,
March and May 2024 respectively and one fashion show in
Kunming, Yunnan province to feature its latest deluxe and key
fashion apparel. VIP members of the Group’s customer club and
property management teams of high-end shopping malls from
some major cities were invited to the fashion shows. This
allowed the Group to market its products to target customers
and to let prospective landlords have a better understanding of

MOISELLE’s positioning.

To further capitalize on the growing trend of electronic
commerce in Mainland China, the Group formed an alliance
with one more leading Chinese e-commerce company, JD.com,
Inc. in April 2023 to market and sell its products. In the past
several years, the Group had already formed separate alliances
with three online shopping website operators, including

CloudHappy Mall, Vipshop and Tmall.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group operated 12 MOISELLE retail
stores in the country (As at 31 March 2023: 11 MOISELLE retail

stores).

Operations in Macau

For the Year, turnover at the Group’s operations in Macau
dropped by 26% to HK$11,463,000 because its business was
affected by the relocation of its MOISELLE store at The Venetian
Macao, a hotel and casino resort in the city. The Group expects
the business of its operations there to be buoyed up by a large
number of inbound tourists in the city, especially those from
Mainland China, in the future. As at 31 March 2024, the Group
operated three shops in the city, namely one MOISELLE and one
LANCASTER retail stores at The Venetian Macao, and one
MOISELLE retail store at The Parisian Macao (As at 31 March
2023: one MOISELLE and one LANCASTER retail stores).
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Operations in Taiwan

Revenue from the Group’s operations in Taiwan rose by 14% to
approximately HK$10,775,000, which accounted for about 8%
of the Group’s turnover for the Year. The growth was due to
relocation of stores to more suitable spots and the operations’
strengthened management there. The Group operated 3
MOISELLE and one LANCASTER retail stores there as at 31
March 2024 (As at 31 March 2023: 3 MOISELLE and one
LANCASTER retail stores as well as one outlet).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overview

The Group’s turnover increased by approximately 7% to
approximately HK$137,311,000 (2023: HK$127,946,000) during
the year ended 31 March 2024 as compared with 2023. The
revenue earned from Hong Kong segment increased by
approximately 18% to approximately HK$83,913,000 (2023:
HK$70,846,000). The relaxation of government measures had
contributed to increase of revenue of the segment under
improved traffic of customers at all points of sales. The segment
contributed to 61% (2023: 55%) of the Group’s total revenue.

The revenue of the segment outside Hong Kong decreased by
approximately 6% to approximately HK$53,398,000 (2023:
HK$57,100,000) during the year ended 31 March 2024 mainly
due to deteriorated performance in Macau under switch of
locations of retail stores. The segment contribution decreased to
39% (2023: 45%) as a result.
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During the year, the Group’s gross profit margin was
approximately 80.5%, as compared to 72.9% of the previous
year. Significant improvement in gross profit margin reflected
decreased reliance on businesses from discounted sales and
fewer promotion activities during the financial year. Operating
expenses for the year ended 31 March 2024 totalled
approximately HK$141,421,000, compared to approximately
HK$132,781,000 for 2023, increased by approximately 7%.
Although the management had continued to conduct various
measures in stringent cost management to counteract high
operating expenses, mainly staff costs and rental expenses, the
Group suffered an operating loss of HK$29,286,000 (2023:
HK$24,980,000).

The loss attributable to the equity shareholders for the year
ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$48,100,000
(2023: HK$42,857,000), increased in line with the increase in
operating loss with impact from the significant increase in

finance costs.

Liquidity and financial resources

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group financed its
operations with internally generated cash flows and bank
borrowings. The Group adopts a prudent financial policy such
that it can meet the financial obligations when they fall due and
maintain a sufficient operating fund for the development of the
Group's business. At the end of the financial year, the Group’s
aggregate fixed deposits and cash balances amounted to
approximately HK$24 million (2023: HK$14 million). Cash and
bank deposits were held mainly in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. The Group has foreign operations and certain of its
net assets are exposed to the risk of foreign currency exchange
rate fluctuations. The management regularly monitors the foreign
currency exchange risk of the Group and may consider hedging

activities when necessary.
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As at 31 March 2024, the Group was granted aggregate
composite banking facilities of approximately HK$73 million
(2023: HK$73 million) by various commercial banks. Within the
overall banking facilities, the Group secured bank borrowings of
HK$51 million (2023: 37 million) at operating subsidiary level
financing its working capital as at 31 March 2024. The Group
was also benefited from the utilisation of banking facilities HK$6
million (2023: HK$4 million) such as banking guarantee as at 31
March 2024.

The Group ran into net current liabilities of HK$24 million as at
the year end (2023: HK$19 million), with current assets being
less than current liabilities. As at 31 March 2024, the gearing
ratio (aggregate of bank borrowings and lease liabilities divided
by shareholders’ equity) was approximately 23.5% (2023:
14.2%).

Charge on assets

As at 31 March 2024, land and buildings held for own use and
investment properties with a carrying value of approximately
HK$111 million (31 March 2023: HK$122 million) were pledged

to secure bank borrowings granted to the Group.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed 302 (2023: 285)
employees mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Salaries
of employees are maintained at competitive levels while bonuses
are granted on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits
include mandatory provident fund, statutory and medical

insurance cover and training programmes.

COMMITMENT TO STAKEHOLDERS’ INTERESTS, SOCIETY’S
WELL-BEING AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The Group is committed to ensuring the rights and interests of its
stakeholders (including its shareholders, employees and
customers) and the well-being of society at large while
complying with all the laws and regulations of the places where
it has operations, including Hong Kong, Mainland China,

Taiwan and Macau.

In addition to its business objective of maximizing returns to
shareholders, the Group also tries its best to fulfil its corporate
social responsibility. For instance, the Group ensures protection
of both environment and consumers against hazardous
substances throughout the process of conducting its business,
from raw material procurement, production to retail. The Group
also has taken measures to ensure that its factory in Longhua,
Shenzhen, complies with the local environmental regulations on
industrial emissions and effluents. The factory is only
responsible for sewing and is not engaged in any dyeing of

fabrics.

The Group believes in consumers’ entitlement to quality and
safe products. To attain this goal, the Group maintains
well-established relationships with trustworthy raw material
suppliers and processing factories, and delivers a sample of each
model of its products to Shenzhen Academy of Metrology and
Quality Inspection for inspection. Besides, the Group also
requires all business partners, raw material suppliers and
production vendors to fulfill all relevant legal and regulatory

requirements on product safety.
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The Group now has over thirty suppliers and has business
relationship of more than a decade on average with each of
them. Such well-established business relationships with the
suppliers are attributable to the Group’s success in building their

trust in it with integrity and by honouring the contracts.

The Group has established a customer loyalty program in order
to enhance customer satisfaction as well as to encourage
repeated purchase. Under the membership program, the VIP
customers can enjoy special discounts and regular activities. It
also manages and maintains good customer relations through
customer service hotlines, after-sales supports as well as bespoke

service and communication with members via mails and emails.

Another group of stakeholders who are also key to the Group’s
success are its employees. The Group offers its staff reasonable
remuneration and benefits and protect their rights according to
the labour laws of the places where it has operations. For
instance, it complies with the relevant laws and regulations on
the employees’ provident fund pension scheme, employment
insurance and safety at work. It also provides training for them
that benefit the development of both their careers and the

Group's business.

The Group aims to accumulate resources for business and use
them effectively to ensure sustainable development. For
instance, it has been enhancing the brand equity of its house
brands and that of the European brand for which it is a
distributor by actively exploring new markets. It has also
allocated resources for the design, research and development of
products and the training of staff. The move was aimed at
manufacturing products of high quality and refreshing designs
with new and improved materials. It also serves to raise the
efficiency of the retail operations. The Group also tries its best to
protect its intellectual property rights and patents and respects

other parties’ intellectual property rights.

All these initiatives and measures can contribute to the

sustainability of the Group’s business.
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Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Yum Kit, aged 65, is the Chairman of the Company.
Mr. Chan is one of the co-founders of the Group and has overall
responsibility for the Group’s overall strategic planning,
formulation of corporate policies and marketing. He has over 47
years of experience in business administration in various
industries including garment manufacturing and trading.
Mr. Chan was awarded the Young Industrialist Awards of
Hongkong by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries in
November 2001 and was awarded with the DHL/SCMP Hong
Kong Business Award in the Owner-Operator Award category in
December 2001. He was awarded 2006 World Outstanding
Chinese Award by the World Chinese Business Investment
Foundation. He was also awarded 2004 Associateship by The
Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries in
January 2004. He is a senior fellow of Social Enterprise Research
Academy. He is currently an honorary consultant of Youth
DreamMakers Association. Mr. Chan is a member of Hong Kong
Young Industrialists Council, an honorary president of the island
regional association of the Hong Kong Girl Guides Association
and the vice-chairman of HK Guangxi Chamber of Commerce.
He is the husband of Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley and is the father
of Mr. Chan Sze Chun and Mr. Chan Pak Hei.
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Ms. TSUI How Kiu, Shirley, aged 65, is an executive director.
She is one of the co-founders of the Group and is the Group's
vice-chairman. She is responsible for the Group’s merchandising
management and retail operations management. She has over 47
years of experience in business administration in various
industries including garment manufacturing and trading. She was
awarded Golden Bauhinia Women Entrepreneur Excellence
Award in November 2016. She is a member of Zonta Club of
New Territories, an honorary president and council member of
Hong Kong Federation of Women, a co-chairman of HK Tianjin
Women’s Federation, a member of HKFW Women Entrepreneurs
Committee, a delegate of All-China Women’s Federation,
Zhuhai, and an honorary president of All-China Women’s
Federation Hong Kong Delegates Association Limited and of the
island regional association of the Hong Kong Girl Guides
Association. Ms. Tsui is the wife of Mr. Chan, Chairman of the
Company, and is the mother of Mr. Chan Sze Chun and
Mr. Chan Pak Hei.

Mr. CHAN Sze Chun, aged 46, is an executive director. He
joined the Group in December 2000. He is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s overseas market operations. Mr. Chan
Sze Chun holds a bachelor’s degree in commerce from Monash
University of Australia. He is the son of Mr. Chan, Chairman of
the Company, and Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley, and is the brother
of Mr. Chan Pak Hei.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. YU Yuk Ying, Vivian, aged 64, is an independent
non-executive director appointed in January 2002. Ms. Yu is a
solicitor and a partner with Yung, Yu, Yuen & Co., a firm of
solicitors, and has been practising in Hong Kong for over 36
years with a focus in the conveyancing and commercial
practice. She obtained a bachelor’s degree in science from
University of Wisconsin-Madison as her first degree and then
passed the Solicitors’ Final Examination and qualified as a
solicitor. Ms. Yu has over 35 years’ experience in property
investment and management. She was appointed as
China-appointed Attesting Officer in 2003 and was also
appointed as notary public in December 2009. She is a founding
member of Hong Kong Professionals and Senior Executives

Association.

Mr. CHU Chun Kit, Sidney, aged 63, is an independent
non-executive director appointed in October 2003. Mr. Chu is
currently the CEO of Archiledture Limited. He has 33 years’
experience in international marketing and senior management
role in both the semiconductor and solid-state lighting
industries. Mr. Chu graduated from the University of Essex with
a bachelor’s degree in science (electronic engineering) and
received a master’s degree in science from the University of

Westminster, London.

Ms. WONG Shuk Ying, Helen (alias name: LEE Shuk Ying,
Helen), aged 70, is an independent non-executive director
appointed in September 2004. Ms. Wong is currently the
director of Kimeray Investment Limited. She has over 30 years’
experience in management consulting and systems
implementation in both the public and private sectors.
Ms. Wong is a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and holds a bachelor’s degree in
commerce from Queen’s University in Canada. She is a member
of the board of directors, the finance committee and the
information technology committee of Heep Hong Society, and is
the president of, and the chairman of the information technology

development committee of, Hong Kong YWCA.
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Dr. Ng Lai Man Carmen, aged 59, is an independent
non-executive director appointed in April 2023. Dr. Ng has over
30 years of experience in professional accounting, corporate
finance and asset management service in Mainland China, Hong

Kong, Southeast Asia, Europe, Canada and the United States.

Dr. Ng is a practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong
and is currently a director of Cosmos CPA Limited, an audit and
advisory firm in Hong Kong, as well as the director and
responsible officer of Redwood Asset Management Limited, a
corporation licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission
to carry on regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). She is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the United Kingdom and The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Dr. Ng is also a fellow member of and a
Chartered Tax Adviser accredited by The Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong.

Dr. Ng received her Doctor degree in Business Administration
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Juris Doctor degree
in Law from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Master of
Laws in Corporate and Financial Laws from The University of
Hong Kong, Master of Business Administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong, Master of Professional Accounting
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University as well as Master of
Science in Global Finance jointly offered by Leonard N. Stern
School of Business of New York University and School of

Business of The Hong Kong University of Science & Technology.

Dr. Ng is currently an independent non-executive director of
eSun Holdings Limited (stock code: 571) and Global
International Credit Group Limited (stock code: 1669), all being

companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Senior Management

Mr. CHAN Pak Hei, aged 36, is the deputy chief executive
officer of the Group. He joined the Group in May 2009. He is
responsible for overseeing the Group’s overall operations and
design and development functions. In addition, he is also
responsible for the Group’s brand building, marketing and
interior design affairs. Mr. Chan Pak Hei holds a bachelor of arts
degree in fashion management (fashion retail) from University of
the Arts London of the United Kingdom. He is a member of
Hong Kong CPPCC Youth Association. He is the son of
Mr. Chan, Chairman of the Company, and Ms. Tsui How Kiu,
Shirley, and is the brother of Mr. Chan Sze Chun.

Ms. PANG Lin, aged 54, is the chief operating officer of the
Group and the company secretary of the Company. Prior to
joining the Group in June 2001, Ms. Pang served as a finance
manager and company secretary of a company listed on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. She
has over 33 years of experience in the audit, accounting and
finance, administration and corporate secretarial fields. She
holds a bachelor of arts degree in accountancy and a master’s
degree in business administration (fashion business) from Hong
Kong Polytechnic University, a master’s degree in corporate
governance from Hong Kong Metropolitan University and a
bachelor’s degree in Chinese law from Peking University. She is
a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
of the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (“HKCGI”) and the Chartered Governance Institute of
the United Kingdom, a member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants of the United Kingdom and a holder

of the practitioner’s endorsement of HKCGI.
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Moiselle International Holdings Limited (the “company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “group”) is committed to meeting statutory and
regulatory requirements and adherence to the principles of
corporate governance emphasizing transparency, independence,

accountability, responsibility and fairness.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Save for the deviations of the Code Provisions C.2.1 and F.2.2 as
below, the company has complied with the code provisions
listed in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.

Code Provision C.2.1

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. Currently,
Mr. Chan Yum Kit is the chairman of the board of directors (the
“Board”) and also assumes the role of the chief executive officer.
The Board considers that the current management structure
ensures consistent leadership and optimal efficiency for the
operation of the company. The company will however keep this

matter under review.

Code Provision F.2.2

Code Provision F.2.2 of the CG Code provides that the chairman
of the Board should attend the annual general meeting of the
company. Due to other engagements external to the company,
Mr. Chan Yum Kit was unable to attend the annual general

meeting of the company held on 27 September 2023.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the company’s
code of conduct for dealings in securities of the company by the
directors. Based on specific enquiry of the company’s directors,
the directors have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible to provide leadership and control,
formulate the group’s business strategies, assess and address
risks in achieving the group’s objectives and uphold corporate
governance functions, including the aspects of environmental,
social and governance reporting. The Board has established the
group’s purposes and values and satisfied that these are aligned
with the desired culture. Corporate values are reinforced across
the group which stress on conducting all kinds of businesses in
lawful, ethical and responsible manners. Operational decision

making is delegated to the management team.

The Board comprises seven directors, three of which are
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Yum Kit (Chairman),
Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley, and Mr. Chan Sze Chun, and four are
independent non-executive directors, namely Ms. Yu Yuk Ying,
Vivian, Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney, Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen,
and Dr. Ng Lai Man, Carmen.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, five board meetings
were held. One of the meetings was held in accordance with
Code Provision C.2.7 of the CG Code which states that the
Chairman should hold meeting with the independent
non-executive directors without the other directors of the
company present. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the meetings
were held in the form of video conference. The attendance of

each director is set out as follows:

R A2 8%
Director Attendance record
Mr. Chan Yum Kit 5/5
Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley 4/4
Mr. Chan Sze Chun 4/4
Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 5/5
Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 5/5
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen 5/5
Dr. Ng Lai Man, Carmen 5/5

During the year ended 31 March 2024, one general meeting, the
annual general meeting, of the company was held. The

attendance of each director is set out as follows:

H AT 8%
Director Attendance record
Mr. Chan Yum Kit 0/1
Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley 0/1
Mr. Chan Sze Chun 1/1
Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 1/1
Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 11
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen 1/1
Dr. Ng Lai Man, Carmen 11

The relationship among members of the Board is separately

disclosed in the directors and senior management profiles.
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Mr. Chan Yum Kit
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Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley
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Mr. Chan Sze Chun
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Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney

Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen
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DIRECTORS” TRAINING

provided of each director are set out as follows:

FriEs sz B

Training received and date

XEZBNERBFRNEEHERNZR
—E-=fNB=tAhH
FREZENRRBERNESHEENET
29 August 2023

ZESBNEARBESRNESH CENELTR
—ZE_=Ff\A=+AH
ZESBNERBESRNESH CENELTR
29 August 2023

“E_NFRRBRERE
—E_MEZA—H

Global investment outlook 2024
1 February 2024

A E B 4 A NAIF] ChatGPTHR & A 1k & 4

—E-=F%t+t=At+=H

How to maximize business opportunities by
generative Al and ChatGPT

12 December 2023

ERESHA-EXERINERE-REAES
ERBRBEEEASERNANE

—E-=HNAZtZ=H

Ethics and Compliance — Keys to Professional
Success — ICAC Seminar for Financial

Services Practitioners with Managerial Roles

23 August 2023
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BARGEE

Training provider

EREFEE

The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors

BEBESEE

The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors

BREEEE

The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors

BREEREE

The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors

EBESRREZE

Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute

The directors have provided records of the training they received

during the year to the company. The details of training records

Fir 75 B ]

Time spent

2B

2 hours

2 PEF

2 hours

2B

2 hours

2/NEF

2 hours
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Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian and Dr. Ng Lai Man, Carmen had
provided confirmation on their fulfillment of the mandatory
continuing professional development requirements of The Law
Society of Hong Kong and Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants respectively during the year ended 31 March
2024.

TERM OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The independent non-executive directors were appointed for a
term of two years and are subject to retirement by rotation in

accordance with the articles of association of the company.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The company has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors a confirmation of independence for the
year ended 31 March 2024 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers all the independent non-executive directors

to be independent.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The company has a nomination committee which was
established in compliance with the CG Code. The members of
the nomination committee comprise two independent
non-executive directors of the company, Ms. Yu Yuk Ying,
Vivian (Chairperson) and Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen, and one

executive director, Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no nomination

committee meeting being held.

The main role and function of the nomination committee consist
of formulation and implementation of the nomination policy,
review of the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of
the Board, and making recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment
of directors and succession planning for directors in particular

the chairman and the chief executive.
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BOARD DIVERSITY
The company has adopted a board diversity policy which

consists of the following main aspects:

a. Board composition to be reviewed in terms of the size of
the Board, the number of non-executive directors and

executive directors in relation to the overall Board,

b.  Board effectiveness which requires members to have diverse
skills, knowledge and experiences that combine to provide

different perspectives and effective board dynamics, and

c.  Nominations and appointments to be carried out in view of
maintaining an appropriate mix of required skills,

experience, expertise and diversity on the Board.

The nomination committee is responsible to review the policy
on board diversity and any measurable objectives for its
implementation and to review the mechanism and the progress

towards achieving the objectives on annual basis.

The headcount by gender of the members of the senior

management at 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Number of person

Male 1

Female 1

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2024 has
disclosed and explained information on the gender ratio in the

overall workforce of the group.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The company has a remuneration committee which was
established in compliance with the CG Code. The members of
the remuneration committee comprise two independent
non-executive directors of the company, Ms. Yu Yuk Ying,
Vivian (Chairperson) and Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney, and one

executive director, Mr. Chan Sze Chun.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, three remuneration
committee meetings were held. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
the meetings were held in the form of video conference. The

attendance of each committee member is set out as follows:

Director Attendance record
Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 3/3
Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 3/3
Mr. Chan Sze Chun 3/3

The main role and function of the remuneration committee
consist of determining the remuneration packages and the terms
of employment of the directors and senior management. During
the year, the remuneration committee has approved the terms of
non-executive directors’ appointments and the remuneration

package of senior management.

The emoluments of the executive directors are determined with
reference to the duties, responsibilities and experience of the
directors and prevailing market conditions. Besides the basic
salaries and benefits-in-kind as stipulated in the service
agreements, prior approval of the remuneration committee is
also required for performance related benefits of the executive

directors.
The emoluments of the non-executive directors are determined

based on the estimated time spent by them on the company’s

matters.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out below:

AE
HK$ Number of person
1,000,001 - 1,500,000 1
3,000,001 - 3,500,000 1

Further particulars regarding directors’ remuneration and
individuals with highest emoluments as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes

10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

AUDITORS” REMUNERATION
During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the group’s

independent auditor is analysed as follows:

BT
HK$
BT RIS Audit services 800,000
FETRE Non-audit services 240,000
1,040,000

EREES AUDIT COMMITTEE

RRARRBRETRAUEI2NMRRALELEZES  EEEX
REFZAEEUHBRRBEUARRBEER AR EZH
B -BEREEETHARAMUBILFHTESAR 25
ARFELLT(ERE) REHRRERERRLL  IHE
EEER-
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The company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the group’s
financial reporting process and risk management and internal
control systems. The audit committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors of the company, Ms. Yu
Yuk Ying, Vivian (Chairperson), Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney and
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen, and reports to the Board.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, three audit committee
meetings were held. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, certain
meetings were held in the form of video conference. The

attendance of each committee member is set out as follows:

Director Attendance record
Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 3/3
Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 3/3
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen 2/3

During the year, the audit committee has reviewed with the
management the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the group, the interim and annual financial statements of the
group, met and discussed with the independent auditors, and
raised queries and obtained explanations from the management
on issues related to financial and operational control procedures

of the group.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges their responsibilities on the
maintenance of risk management and internal control systems
which are essential for effective and efficient operations of the
group and are fundamental in the thorough and regular
evaluation of the nature and extent of the risks to which the
group is exposed. These systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. Internal control is defined
as a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the achievement of objectives in relation to the following:

o Effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

e Reliability of financial reporting; and

e Compliance with applicable laws and regulations
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For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board, with the
assistance of the management, had conducted an annual review
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the group, focusing on three major business cycles of
the group, under COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission) framework. The Board had been
satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of these systems on
monitoring and evaluating the risks. Based on the results, the
directors were dedicated to implement various initiatives to
further enhance the existing risk management and internal
control systems alongside with the ongoing business

development of the group.

During the year, the group has maintained an internal audit
function with internal resources and engaged external
consultants to assist the management in order to identify,

evaluate and manage significant risks of the group.

During the year, the internal audit function had reviewed the
continuing connected transactions (details of which had been
disclosed in the company’s announcements of 31 August 2023),
and had included the relevant findings and recommendations in

its annual review report and submitted to the Board.

The group has established whistleblowing policies and systems
with designated committee (audit committee) for employees,
customers and suppliers to raise concerns in confidence and
anonymity. The group has also established policies and systems
promoting anti-corruption laws and regulations, as well as

provision of relevant training to its workforce.

The group complies with the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information published by the Securities and Futures Commission
in view of fulfilling its obligations to disclose inside information

under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

DIRECTORS” RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARING ACCOUNTS
The company’s directors acknowledge that they are responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements

which give a true and fair view.
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STATEMENT BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The statement of the independent auditor of the company
regarding their responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the independent auditor’s report

on pages 53 to 63.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopts a dividend policy under which when
considering declaration of dividends, the company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves in order to meet its working
capital and future growth requirements, and shall preserve its
shareholders’ value by allowing shareholders to participate in

the company’s profit distribution.

The Board shall declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the company in compliance with the articles of
association of the company and all applicable regulatory

framework.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the company plays an important role
in supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow
within the Board, facilitating induction and professional
development of the Board members and advising on governance.
The company secretary of the company is Ms. Pang Lin, who is
a full-time employee of the group and reports to the Board. All
directors of the company have access to the advice and services
of the company secretary to ensure that Board policies and
procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and regulations, are

followed.

Ms. Pang was appointed as the company secretary of the
company in accordance with Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Her
academic and professional qualifications and relevant
experience are disclosed in the directors and senior management

profiles.
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Ms. Pang has provided to the company the proof that she has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and has taken no
less than fifteen hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

According to article 58 of the company’s articles of association,
any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist himself may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist by the company.

If a member of the public or a shareholder wishes to put forward
enquiries to the Board and/or put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings, he/she must deposit a written notice (the
“Notice”) to the principal place of business of the company in
Hong Kong at Units 1-5, 11th Floor, Kodak House 2, 39 Healthy
Street East, North Point, Hong Kong, or the branch share
registrar of the company, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong

Kong for the attention of the company secretary of the company.
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In order for a proposal to be considered in general meetings, the
period for lodgement of the Notice will commence no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice by the company of
the general meeting to be convened and end no later than seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the Notice is
received less than 15 days prior to the general meeting, the
company will need to consider the adjournment of the general
meeting in order to give shareholders 14 days’ notice of the

proposal.

The Notice will be verified with the company’s branch share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the company secretary of the company will ask the
relevant committee of the company and the Board to consider to
include the resolution in the agenda for the general meeting to

be convened.

Annual Report 2024 4FJE4F # Moiselle International Holdings Limited % ¥ B B 5 [ A5 B 2 w]

39



40

EHRTHREEH

Directors’ Report

SFERERERAR (RAA)) ESEUERBE=-Z
THEZAZT-HLEFEZFERSERANQATREM
BAR(AER]) KRERGEEMBE®RE -

EEEEME

ARAD—ZRASHSEMRLEEFR QT - HEM
MERERTEE UMD B M Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islandsk BB L AREREFIGRAERNESE 114815

5=
Eo

FEXEK

ARBAZEEXEBRAREER -AEEZEEEBRR
P RE ZERMBRERGRESH MHBEIR2E
BEEBREMFRHRES P HRRMEES -

AEBRUBFEZEXBREED T 2FBEHIINGS B
BHRMES ©

EXBER

FEAEERAFECERER FAEBRARERERZ
NMREAETHRERESHAEEFERREZOME
REAFERFIZNBEZERBRERENE2VNE2ERER
AR - EEZRRE HEREARRERHAIIN_-ZF
THERE -HERERBER

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % i B B 4 M & R 2 5

The directors of Moiselle International Holdings Limited (“the
company”) presented its annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the company and its

subsidiaries (the “group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The company is a company incorporated and domiciled in the
Cayman Islands and has its registered office and principal place
of business at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and Units 1-5, 11/F,
Kodak House 2, 39 Healthy Street East, North Point, Hong Kong

respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the group are design, manufacture, retail
and wholesale of fashion apparel and accessories. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in

note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

The analysis of geographical location of the operations of the
group during the financial year is set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the businesses of the group during the year, a
discussion on the group’s future business development and an
analysis of the group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 11 and the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 12 to 21 of this annual report.
A review of the environmental, social and governance
performance of the group is provided in the Environmental,

Social and Governance Report 2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

For principal risks and uncertainties, the directors are aware that
the group is exposed to risks and uncertainties, including those
specific to the group and those having generic impacts. The
management closely monitors the business environment in
which the group operates in order to have opportunities and
threats the group faces identified, reported, monitored and
managed on a continuous basis. Related discussion on certain
risks and uncertainties is provided in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 4 to 11 and the Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 12 to 21 of this annual report and notes 28 and 29 to
the consolidated financial statements. Concerning the risks
related to environmental, social and governance aspects of the
group’s businesses, related discussion is provided in the

Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the percentage of the
five largest customers combined were less than 30% of the

group’s total revenue.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS
The information in respect of the group’s purchases attributable

to the major suppliers respectively during the financial year is as

follows:
FREERBESHEIL
Percentage of the group’s
purchases total
The largest supplier 24%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 43%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the company (which to the best knowledge of
the directors owns more than 5% of the company’s share

capital) had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
group for each of the last five financial years is set out on pages
187 and 188.

DIVIDEND

The board did not declare the payment of an interim dividend
for the six months ended 30 September 2023 (2022: Nil). The
directors do not declare the payment of a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the group during the year
amounted to HK$30,000 (2023: HK$10,000).

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the company’s share capital are set out in note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements. There were no movements

during the year.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000.
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RETIREMENT SCHEME (continued)

As stipulated by the regulations of the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”), the group participates in defined contribution
retirement plans organised by the relevant authorities for its
Mainland China employees. The group is required to make
contributions to the retirement plans which are calculated based
on certain prescribed rates on the salaries, bonuses and certain
allowances of its Mainland China employees. The group has no
other material obligation for the payment of pension benefits
associated with such plans beyond the annual contributions

described above.

Employees of the subsidiary carrying on business in Taiwan
chose to participate in a defined contribution scheme governed
by the Labour Pension Act of Taiwan. This subsidiary contributes
at 6% of the total salaries of participating employees who have
chosen to participate in the defined contribution scheme,
deposited into individual pension accounts at the Bureau of

Labour Insurance of Taiwan.

Employees of the subsidiary in Singapore participate in the
Central Provident Fund scheme (the “CPF”) organised by the
government of Singapore. This subsidiary and its employees are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the employees’
payroll to the CPF. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
CPF. The subsidiary has no further obligations for the actual
pension payments or post-retirement benefits beyond its

contributions.

Contributions to the defined contribution scheme are charged to

profit or loss when incurred.
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DIRECTORS
The directors during the financial year and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Chan Yum Kit

Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley
Mr. Chan Sze Chun

Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian

Mr. Chu Chun Kit, Sidney

Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen

Dr. Ng Lai Man, Carmen

Mr. Chan Yum Kit, Mr. Chan Sze Chun and Ms. Yu Yuk Ying,
Vivian will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting in
accordance with article 87 of the company’s articles of

association and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The independent non-executive directors were appointed for a
term of two years and are subject to retirement by rotation in

accordance with the articles of association of the company.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than normal

statutory obligations.
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EERIETBRABRESF 2R DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

RIZE-_MF=ZA=+—H "  AQAEERFETHAE As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
RAQARREEBE LB (EXZRRSRBEMGRL TESFR directors and the chief executive of the company in the shares,
BMERG D EBXVED) 2R - HERORESH  B#EX underlying shares and debentures of the company and its
RAMRBESRBERBIEI 2R 2R EFE 2B LM associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
i RARB(EBHEXZHBRLA (THAT]E Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the
SEMRADTETRAUDFFRLETARNESETESRK register kept by the company under section 352 of the SFO, or
SHZREFR ((REFR D NERQAARBIFzERR as otherwise notified to the company and The Stock Exchange of
HKEWMT Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)

were as follows:

RO ZERER MO L
Beneficial Approximate EEME
B interest percentage Nature of
Name of director in shares of interests interest
PRI & 193,918,000 67.35% NG
Mr. Chan Yum Kit Corporate/Family
2,784,000 0.97% HE®SE
Jointly held
2,100,000 0.73% ENi3
Family
2,100,000 0.73% @8 A
Personal
(Btat(1)2(3))
(Notes (1) = (3))
®IEL T 193,918,000 67.35% NGIPE-§i 3
Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley Corporate/Family
2,784,000 0.97% HE®SE
Jointly held
2,100,000 0.73% ENi3
Family
2,100,000 0.73% @8 A
Personal
(KraE1)Z(3))
(Notes (1) — (3))
REEEE 900,000 0.31% PN
Mr. Chan Sze Chun Personal
EREL L 28,000 0.01% &8 A
Ms. Wong Shuk Ying, Helen Personal
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (continued)

Notes:

(1) 190,000,000 of these shares are held by Super Result Consultants
Limited (“Super Result”). The share capital of Super Result is
beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Yum Kit (“Mr. Chan”) and
Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley (“Ms. Tsui”) as to 46.7% and 46.7%
respectively. Each of Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui will therefore be
deemed interested in the 190,000,000 shares held by Super Result
as corporate interest.

3,918,000 of these shares are held by New First Investments
Limited (“New First”). The share capital of New First is beneficially
owned by Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui as to 50% and 50% respectively.
Each of Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui will therefore be deemed interested
in the 3,918,000 shares held by New First as corporate interest.

(2) 2,784,000 shares are jointly held by Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui as
jointly held interests.

(3) Since Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui are married to each other, Mr. Chan
will be deemed interested in the shares which Ms. Tsui is deemed
interested in as family interest, and vice versa.

In addition to the above, one director has non-beneficial
personal equity interests in certain subsidiaries held for the
benefit of the group. Certain director also has beneficial interest
in non-voting deferred shares practically carrying no rights to
dividends or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any
general meeting or to participate in any distribution or winding

up in a subsidiary.

Apart from the foregoing, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
directors or the chief executive of the company or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the company or any
of its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO, as recorded in the register kept by the company under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the company

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (continued)

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year ended 31
March 2024 was the company, or any of its holding company,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors or the chief executive of the company or
any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or

debentures of the company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the interests or short positions of the
following shareholder, other than the directors and the chief
executive of the company, in the shares or underlying shares of
the company which have been disclosed to the company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO have been recorded in the
register kept by the company under section 336 of the SFO:

BRAEEEH

ERTROZBNEI L

HRROGEAH Approximate percentage
Aggregate long of aggregate interests to

position in shares total issued shares

Super Result

BtaE © Super Resultz RATIHBREERB LT DHERES
46.7%K46.7% °

BREMER EX[EEREBTRAERE S 2BE |-
FBARAEERETEZTHAE ZEEN  BEAQFR
BEZRPERAEBMZAEFE 2 LMATRRE -
RZBZME=ZA=+—0  UEEMALRERIFTRE
HEEARD PEARESAR
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190,000,000 65.99% (#1&E) (Note)

Note: The share capital of Super Result is beneficially owned by
Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui as to 46.7% and 46.7% respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, and other than the directors and the
chief executive of the company whose interests are set out in the
section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests in securities”
above, no person was recorded in the register kept by the
company under section 336 of the SFO as having an interest or a
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the company
as at 31 March 2024.

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % i#¥ B B 4 [ # L 2 #

47



48

EHRTHREEH

Directors’ Report

EERXRS  RESEHNzER

RERIAFEEMEE  BAQF - HERAF - WE
RARBDEAMBLRAER AL Z2EMNEERS « &
FRENT AR PEEHRERFEMEARES -

KEREXS

REFE AEEHEBEAL (EERLHRANDBUTR
SREZFMBRARAZFEFAERS - AEREHRA
FBUABZRBERERRTFHRAKE -

REZBZZFNA=Z+—B  ARAZ2EMBAREH
BRIt ERAR ((EHEE ) ERAEEMNERAT (R
FENDATVERMERBERR (ZHBE])  RE-Z==
FNAZ-Z-_AF=ZAIt BEHBEOBEHERBEE
BERZE -ZHBRE_ZE_ZFUFTE-_ZT=-_RFE
F=F BRENE -LXF FEREF BE-Z-N
F ZERERZEZAFEZA=+-HLEEHREEZ
FEE RSB A8,000,000%& T~ 9,600,000/ T K
9,600,0008 T - RAFE ZMBET ZXZRAENAR
1,490,000 Jt °

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party, in which a director of the
company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year

or at any time during the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the group had the following transactions and
arrangements with connected persons (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the company which constituted continuing connected
transactions for the company and are required to be reported in
this annual report in compliance with the disclosure

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

On 31 August 2023, Boo Gie Garment Factory Limited (“Boo
Gie Garment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company,
entered into a goods supply and purchase agreement (the
“Agreement”) with Nice Power Asia Limited (“Nice Power”) to
regulate the supply and sales of menswear and ladieswear by
Boo Gie Garment to Nice Power from April 2023 to end of
March 2026. The Agreement covered three years each
containing the seasons of fall, winter, spring and summer from
fall 2023 to summer 2026, with annual cap set at
HK$8,000,000, HK$9,600,000 and HK$9,600,000 for financial
year ending 31 March 2024, 2025 and 2026 respectively.
During the year, the total transaction amount under the

Agreement was approximately HK$1,490,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The pricing policies are set at fixed unit price, the same as in
normal commercial practices. The goods were charged at FOB
prices with terms mutually agreed by both parties based on
prices of goods of similar specifications and natures supplied to
independent customers. The FOB prices are determined based
on ex-factory prices for each style with profit margin of 15% to
73% depending on the order quantity. Basic profit margin of
15% is charged for sourcing of exquisite raw materials and
accessories and merchandising services provided. Additional
profit margin is charged when order is lower than minimum
order quantity of 50 pieces, at surcharge of 15% for order
quantity from 20 to 49 pieces and of 50% for order quantity
from 1 to 19 pieces respectively. Minimum order quantity can
otherwise fluctuate depending on availability of fabric and other

accessory materials and will be agreed by both parties.

Nice Power is 20% owned by the group, 40% owned by
Mr. Chan Pak Hei, a senior management of the group, and 40%
owned by an independent third party. Mr. Chan Pak Hei is the
son of Mr. Chan, chairman and executive director of the
company and Ms. Tsui, an executive director of the company,
and is the brother of Mr. Chan Sze Chun, an executive director
of the company. Nice Power is considered to be a connected
person of the company, and the transactions between Boo Gie
Garment and Nice Power under the Agreement constitute

continuing connected transactions of the company.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent
non-executive directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that they were entered

into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the group;

2. on normal commercial terms or better; and

3. in accordance with the Agreement on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the

company as a whole.

In addition, in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules,
the group has engaged its auditors to report on the group’s
continuing connected transactions. The auditors of the group
have issued a letter to the Board confirming that nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the

above continuing connected transactions:

1. have not been approved by the Board;

2. were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the group in relation to the provision of
goods or services by the group;

3.  have not been entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements

governing such transactions; and

4. have exceeded the annual cap.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions of the group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 are disclosed in note 31(a) to the
consolidated financial statements. Save for the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above, during the year under
review, none of the related party transactions constituted a
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
subject to independent shareholders’ approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

On 28 May 2020, the Group, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, entered into a facility letter with an existing bank for
a revised banking facility up to an aggregate amount of
HK$65,000,000. In June 2022, the facility amount was further
revised to HK$55,000,000. Pursuant to the terms of the facility
letter, the Group undertakes with the bank that the directors,
Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui, shall remain to be the directors and the

largest shareholder of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the company’s
articles of association or the law in the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the company to offer new shares on a pro rata

basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the company’s
listed securities by the company or any of its subsidiaries during

the year.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the company has maintained the
prescribed public float required under the Listing Rules, based
on the information that is publicly available to the company and

within the knowledge of the directors of the company.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the
directors of the company is currently in force and was in force

throughout the year.

AUDITORS

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution of the
re-appointment of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditors of
the company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO APPENDIX 16 PARAGRAPH 30
OF THE LISTING RULES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu resigned as auditors of the company and Baker Tilly
Hong Kong Limited was appointed as auditors of the company to

fill the casual vacancy.

By Order of the Board

Chan Yum Kit

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Moiselle International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 64 to 184, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting

policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment

We identified the impairment of right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment in the Group’s retail
operations as a key audit matter due to inherent uncertainty
pertaining to the assumptions required in determining the
future discounted cash flow forecasts of each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) being the individual retail
stores and involvement of significant degree of management
judgement and estimation in determining the amount of

provision.

Management judgement is required to identify those CGUs
requiring provision for or reversal of impairment in the
current year, while estimation is required to assess the

recoverable amounts of each CGU.

Impairment losses on right-of-use assets and property, plant
and equipment for the amount of HK$2,893,000 and
HK$219,000, respectively, were recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2024. As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amounts of the right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment were HK$32,996,000 and HK$342,410,000,

respectively.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment in the Group's retail

operations included:

e Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s control and
assessment process in identifying the indicators of
potential impairment and estimating the recoverable
amount of each CGU by considering the level of
inherent risk of estimation uncertainty and susceptibility
to management bias;

e Evaluating the appropriateness in management’s
identification of CGUs, the allocation of assets to each
CGU identified and the impairment assessment
methodology adopted by management;

e Comparing the most significant inputs used in the
preparation of the discounted cash flow forecasts,
including future revenue and related future expenses,
with the historical performance of these retail stores and
the budgets and forecasts approved by directors of the
Company, taking into account recent developments in
the retail sector and the future operating plans for the
Group;

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the discount rates

applied in the cash flow forecasts;

e  Evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by the
management on the key inputs used to evaluate the
extent of impact on the estimated future cash flows; and

e Testing the mathematical accuracy of provision for
impairment made by management.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties and land and buildings held for own use

We identified the valuation of investment properties and land
and buildings held for own use as a key audit matter because
the valuations of these properties require the exercise of

significant judgement and estimation.

The fair values of the investment properties and land and
buildings held for own use were assessed by the directors
based on valuations prepared by an independent firm of
qualified professional property valuers. The key estimates and
assumptions adopted in the valuation by the external property
valuer included unobservable inputs used such as
capitalisation rate and the selection of comparable market
transactions.

The Group’s investment properties and land and buildings
held for own use were valued at HK$138,115,000 and
HK$338,521,000 as at 31 March 2024, respectively.

Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment
properties and land and buildings held for own use included:

e Obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared
by the external property valuer engaged by the Group
and on which the directors’ assessment of the fair values
of investment properties and land and buildings held for

own use was based;

e Assessing the external property valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise in the properties being valued

and considering their objectivity;

e Discussing with the external property valuer, to
understand the valuation methodology applied and the
key estimates and assumptions adopted in their
valuations and assess their reasonableness and the

consistency with industry norms; and

e Comparing the significant unobservable inputs and
comparable market transactions adopted by the external
property valuer with available market data, on a sample

basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing

the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's

internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group

to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance

regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF MOISELLE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(continued)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Del Rosario, Faith Corazon.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 26 June 2024

Del Rosario, Faith Corazon

Practising certificate number P06143
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

—E_ME —_E_=
2024 2023
Mt = THET FTEx
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
W 2 Revenue 5 137,311 127,946
SHER AR Cost of sales (26,827) (34,666)
EF Gross profit 110,484 93,280
HAb WA Other income 6,142 12,445
Hiblhm R E1E Other gains and losses 7 (4,491) 2,076
PEERHEERX Distribution and selling expenses (84,048) (80,623)
THREEMEKEFS Administrative and other operating expenses (57,373) (52,158)
KEEE Loss from operations (29,286) (24,980)
REVEAAREBEEEZ Loss on changes in fair value of investment
&8 properties 14 (16,136) (21,768)
& X A Finance costs 9 (4,416) 2,117)
BB AR Loss before taxation (49,838) (48,865)
FriEBiiE % Income tax credit 8 1,728 5,964
FRER Loss for the year 9 (48,110) (42,901)
Htt2HEBX Other comprehensive expense
BTEEH 7 HZEmZEEH . ltem that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss:
FEBRLHREEY 2SR Loss on revaluation of land and buildings
B8 - MBRAEREMER held for own use,
net of related income tax (4,539) (1,362)
REBHREEN EEEm 2 Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
EH : profit or loss:
MEBIEBCERZE Exchange differences arising on translation of
HEFELRET foreign operations, with nil tax impact (2,481) (9,234)
HEJIEKEE RS Reclassification of cumulative translation
ERFBENDE reserve upon disposal of a foreign operation (7,251) -
(14,271) (10,596)
AEE2HMAXAHE Total comprehensive expense
for the year (62,381) (53,497)

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
ZoME=ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

—ENE —E-=
2024 2023
Mt = THET FEx
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
THATEERFERR : Loss for the year attributable to:
ZNCESZ DN Owners of the Company (48,100) (42,857)
JEIE R R = Non-controlling interests (10) (44)
(48,110) (42,901)
THALTEEZHEBZEHE: Total comprehensive expense attributable to:
ARAREFEEA Owners of the Company (62,371) (53,453)
IR Non-controlling interests (10) (44)
(62,381) (53,497)
BT BT
HK$ HK$
BRER Loss per share
BN Basic 13 (0.17) (0.15)

Annual Report 2024 4FJE4F #
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RZZE-MFE=HA=+—H As at 31 March 2024

—E_MFE ===
2024 2023
Mt ZE FERT FTHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
FREBEE Non-current assets
REMZE Investment properties 14 138,115 226,190
M- -BERRE Property, plant and equipment 14 342,410 332,343
EREEE Right-of-use assets 15 32,996 15,108
EfRE Deposits paid 16 3,818 3,230
BEEFMSHEE Deferred tax assets 22 323 312
517,662 577,183
REBEE Current assets
7 Inventories 17 27,273 22,340
JE UK BR R % L At B WK Trade and other receivables 18 28,645 30,726
RITEBRRRE Bank balances and cash 23,558 13,775
79,476 66,841
REAR Current liabilities
JE A BR R % EL At FE A9 R Trade and other payables 19 26,379 24,299
HEGE Lease liabilities 20 25,334 23,754
EARiE Tax payable 1,494 147
BE Borrowings 21 50,725 37,300
103,932 85,500
mEEEEE Net current liabilities (24,456) (18,659)
EELERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 493,206 558,524
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
MRZZTE-ME=A=+—H As at 31 March 2024

—E_UE —E-=F
2024 2023
oY = FTHET FTHEx
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
FERBEER Non-current liabilities
HEEE Lease liabilities 20 17,539 4,637
ELEFREHAasE Deferred tax liabilities 22 76,732 92,571
94,271 97,208
EERE Net assets 398,935 461,316
EXRRE Capital and reserves
[ Share capital 23 2,880 2,880
(N Reserves 397,312 459,683
ERRAERARERRER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 400,192 462,563
IR R S Non-controlling interests (1,257) (1,247)
48 PR R R Total equity 398,935 461,316

FOAZRIAB R A HERRER=ZEMNEARAZ+T N

AREEE ORI A8 T

WA THEBSAREE !

Chan Yum Kit
Director

2

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 184 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
26 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Tsui How Kiu, Shirley
®I5%E
Director

2
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-T-WF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

KLAEAARG
Attributable to owners of the Company
EERRLE  NRERRR FERER

i BftiE Bk EiRE Statutory Property 2ithE N fRFER
Share Share Other Exchange reserve revaluation — Accumulated a3 controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve funds reserve losses Total interests Equity
Thn Tan Tn Thn Thn Tén Tn Thn Tén TAn
HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000

(i) (ki)

(note i) [note i)

H-8-ZERA-R At1 April 2022 2,880 05,327 1 29,935 9,336 437,654 (29,237) 516,016 (1,203) 514813

ERER Loss for the year - - - - - - (42,857) (42,857) (44) (42,901)

BERALERER2 Loss on evaluaton ofland and huldings held

bR for own use - (1,781) - (1,781) - (1,781)

EffkFERINR Income ax rlating to revaluation of land and

BEN2AER buildings held for own use 419 - 419 - 419
BEEMRRFEL, Exchange differences arising from translation
EEE of foreign operations - - 9234) - - - 9234) - (934
ER2ERREE Total comprehensive expense for the year = 9,234) - 1,362) (42,857) (53,453) (44) 53,497)
H-B-Z§=A=1-AR At31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023
ZBIZERR-A 2,880 05,327 M 20,701 9,336 436,292 (72,094) 462,563 (1,247 461,316
EhEE Loss for the year - - - s = - (48,100) (48,100) (10) (48,10)
FEERT BRI ERER Loss on revaluaton offand and buildings held
for own use - - (16,269) - (16,269) - (16,269)
Btk AR ARBEN 2K EH Income ta relating to revaluaion of land and
buildings held for own use - - 297 - 291 - 297
HERBATEBEEMAEARIOR  Reversalof income tax elaing o evaluatio of and
BEN2FER (W25) and buildings held for own use upon disposa of
subsidiaries note 29) - - 8,603 - 4,803 - 8,803
HEBNERABEHERBRENAE  Reclassiicaton of cumulative translation eserve upon
(Kits) disposal of a foreign operation (note 25) - - (7.251) - - - (7,051) - (7.051)
BERARTFEL ZERZE Exchange diferences aisng on
translation of foreign operations - - (2,481) - - - (2,481) - (2,481)
ERRERRAE Total comprehensive expense for the year - - (973) - (4539) (48,100 (62,371) (10) (62,381)
HEHBAARERERER Transfer to accumulated losses upon disposal of
(&) subsidiries (note 25) = = 4024) (28,773) 30797 = = =

R-8-ME=A=1-R At 31 March 2024 2,880 05,327 m 10,969 5312 402,980 (87,397) 400,192 (1,557) 398,935

Mt - Notes:

() HiREEER-ZEZE-F-—BF-THR4EUZ2AEEEH (i) Other reserve represents the difference between the nominal value
MEBEZHBLRRA 2 RAEEERLEAKBEZEARARE of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired over the nominal
BITRAZEHBEZER value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange thereof

pursuant to a group reorganisation which became effective on 25
January 2002.
(i) BBIBBECEBR2PFEARKLME (THE]) EE (i)  According to the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) laws

Ziﬁ’ATZEF@WiMﬁ%’AT/E LW{.&E

%%1%%%&3&1%@1&%* JEE o

SEDABFERBEZER

ARBESR -

$%Y o EER
| (2P E Fa‘%ﬁ;ﬁrﬁ) 2 10%88 13
E%é;zgézi*ﬁ#ézéﬁ?ﬂ%ﬁ$250%%

e WEESTREBABASNRBMEZERAS B E
RUHEA RS R AN RO SRANT

RBEREANES - K=

ZERET AT ERERDENE

H-Z2 E-A—A FHERTEREZEEE Al
TEOBTRBEENESFLER-

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥

applicable to wholly-owned foreign investment enterprises,
Mainland China subsidiaries of the Company are required to set up
two statutory reserve funds, general reserve fund and staff general
fund. General reserve fund was set up by appropriating at least
10% of their annual profit after taxation, as determined under PRC
regulations, until the balance of the fund reaches 50% of their
registered capital. This fund can be used to make good losses or to
convert into paid-in capital. Transfer from retained profits to staff
general fund was made at the discretion of the board of directors of
Mainland China subsidiaries. Starting from 1 January 2006, the
transfer is no longer a statutory obligation upon the revision of the
law on 27 October 2005 and no transfer to staff general fund has
been made since then.
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HEBESREER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

—E_UE —EBE_=F
2024 2023
oY = FERT FHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
REED Operating activities
BR%L RIS 1B Loss before tax (49,838) (48,865)
BT HEL AR Adjustments for:
ELE= 929N Finance costs 9 4,416 2,117
FE WA Interest income (735) (17)
REVELAREEHZ Loss on changes in fair value of investment
Ea properties 14 16,136 21,768
ME - BERRBZITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 9 13,649 13,462
EREEEZIE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9 22,502 21,542
ME- -BERRXEBZRHESR Impairment losses on property, plant and
FE equipment, net 9 219 372
FRAREEZRERFEFHE Impairment losses on right-of-use assets, net 9 2,893 2,906
20198 MM mS HEEEE 2 EH Covid-19 related rent concessions 6 - (3,403)
REALHEESHN 2 lE Gain on early termination of lease contracts 7 (395) (300)
HEWE  BERRKHB2WE Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 7 (98) (170)
HEMBRARZER Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 7 3,477 =
RITEEESEHA 2 Operating cash flows before movements in
REDERE working capital 12,226 9,412
FE (& m) #d (Increase) decrease in inventories (4,818) 7,032
P i B o % L At FE WK Increase in trade and other receivables
Z (1,452) (4,674)
JE A BR R % L Ath B A9 SR 2 38 AN Increase (decrease) in trade and other
(RL2) payables 2,414 (5,314)
REXBRBRE Cash from operations 8,370 6,456
ENEBRIAEH Income tax outside Hong Kong paid (1,980) (272)
REEFHFEREFR Net cash from operating activities 6,390 6,184
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

—EC-WEF —2-=F
2024 2023
oY = THER THET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
REZH Investing activities
REMHESEZE: Refund of rental deposits 5,683 5,678
HEME BERREZ Proceeds on disposal of property,

P8R8 plant and equipment 98 170
HEWBARZRESMAFEE Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries 25 22,396 -
2 lFE Interest received 735 17
BAVE -BERRME Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,868) (1,931)
XNHEEEE Payments for rental deposits (3,484) (823)
REEZBFEHESFHE Net cash from investing activities 22,560 3,111
METH Financing activities
BERTEE Repayment of bank borrowings (71,066) (35,894)
EBEHEEEE Repayment of lease liabilities (27,749) (30,894)
ENFE Interest paid (4,416) 2,117)
HMEE 2 FERE Proceeds from new borrowings 84,491 60,277
METBHFMARSEE Net cash used in financing activities (18,740) (8,628)
RERRESEMENER Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 10,210 667
RENZRERAEZEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning

of the year 13,775 14,424

EX2EHo 28 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (427) (1,316)
RERZRERAECEZEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year,

RRETEBRRRAE represented by bank balances and cash 23,558 13,775

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

—RER 1. GENERAL INFORMATION

SHEBREEAERAR (A7) REME AR Moiselle International Holdings Limited (the “Company”;
BIAER]) D" ZXRBREMEFE LA EENE and its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the “Group”)
(1961 FE =AM - RFERIER) REASEFHSEM is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
MIEREERAR ERONEBHESXZME Islands with limited liability under the Companies Law,
PRAFTER EH o HEAZER A T ASuper Result Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
Consultants Limited ([ Super Result]) » ZARHB—K the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main
REBELHEEMB L ZBRAE - RAREFER Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Its
HITESHRRANLE ([RELE]) RAAAHTESR ultimate holding company is Super Result Consultants
sz £ (MR £ 1) & BMSuper ResulthsH46.7%MKR Limited (“Super Result”), a limited company incorporated in
o ARADAZEMPREERTE L E I 2l E R the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Chan Yum Kit (“Mr. Chan”),
AAB2FRPDBER —HHE - the chairman and executive director of the Company, and

Ms. Tsui How Kiu, Shirley (“Ms. Tsui”), executive director
of the Company, each holds 46.7% equity interest in Super
Result. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the

section of Corporate Information in the Company’s annual

report.
ARAR—FZBREZRLQA - AREIMBARZEE The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
EBRRET  HERTERHRGHRAEE - BRAALD principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
REEME DR ZFBEHNMES design, manufacture and retail of fashion apparel and

accessories. Details of the principal subsidiaries of the

Company are set out in note 33.
SREUBBRRDUBITES  TRRDRZNEE - The consolidated financial statements are presented in

Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional

currency of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

2. BRAFAEAMBREREAN(ERMBREE
Rl RABET &
REFERHNERZHTEBUBHREERETAR

RAFE  AEERERESMBHRRE - BAER
THRERSTMLAS ((FEBEHMAE ) BALR
CECCHFENA-HIAZERBZFERBEEEN
ZHABBUBRELERBITA :

REERASTHHBEZEREMERRER T H
BERSTMASEM I B BMBRMELERRIERT
i N

BBUEREERE175 REBEH
(BE-Z-ZE5+AR
“ECCE_REBEHEK
RERERIE1 750 2 BFIA)

BREHEAFR ZBITR BEGZER

BREHERNFE R ZBTA BE-RGMEEZ
BENEREHZ
BB

BREMREAENRBTA BRRBRE-XH
ZRERE

BREMNRAZINREBUBRE SHBRKE
ZEAEBREFLFRZBTA
BRTIES  NEERAHMI BN BRELERE

AAHAEERAFERBEFEZMBRRIE KRR
R/ BAZEFEUBERRAARELBEATE -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023 for the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

The Group has applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial

statements for the current accounting period:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform-Pillar Two
Model Rules

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

(#&) effective for the current year (continued)
EREBEERESH Z 15T Bt 5t 2 ES] Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 8
ZHE “Definition of Accounting Estimates”
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The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments define accounting
estimates as “monetary amounts in financial statements that
are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting
policy may require items in financial statements to be
measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty.
In such a case, an entity develops an accounting estimate
to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy.
The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, and changes in

accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year had
no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
“Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12
“Income Taxes” so that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and

deductible temporary differences.
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2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
“Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction” (continued)

In accordance with the transition provision:

(i) the Group has applied the new accounting policy
retrospectively to leasing transactions that occurred on
or after 1 April 2022; and

(ii) the Group also, as at 1 April 2022, recognised a
deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable
temporary difference associated with right-of-use

assets and lease liabilities.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial position and performance,
except that the Group discloses the related deferred tax
assets of HK$3,277,000 and deferred tax liabilities of
HK$3,277,000 on a gross basis as at 1 April 2022 in note
22 but it had no impact on the accumulated losses as at the

earliest period presented.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current accounting period. HKAS 1 “Presentation of
Financial Statements” is amended to replace all instances of
the term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to
illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality
process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge
whether information about an accounting policy is material
to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are
added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
but has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting
policies set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Application of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident
Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong
which are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain
circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory
MPF contributions to the trustee who administers the assets
held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each
individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an
employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived from
employers’” MPF contributions was allowed under the
Employment Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the Hong
Kong SAR Government (the “Government”) gazetted the
Hong Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”), which will
come into effect from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”).
Once the Amendment Ordinance takes effect, an employer
can no longer use any of the accrued benefits derived from
its mandatory contributions to MPF scheme to reduce LSP
in respect of an employee’s service from the Transition
Date (the abolition of the “offsetting mechanism”). In
addition, the LSP in respect of the service before the
Transition Date will be calculated based on the employee'’s
monthly salary immediately before the Transition Date and

the years of service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides accounting
guidance relating to the offsetting mechanism and the

abolition of the mechanism.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Application of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident
Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong (continued)

In particular, the guidance indicates that entities may
account for the accrued benefits derived from mandatory
MPF contributions that are expected to be used to reduce
the LSP payable to an employee as deemed contributions

by that employee towards the LSP.

Applying this approach, upon the enactment of the
Amendment Ordinance in June 2022, it is no longer
permissible to apply the practical expedient in paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” that previously
allowed such deemed contributions to be recognised as
reduction of service cost (negative service cost) in the
period the contributions were made; instead these deemed
contributions should be attributed to periods of service in

the same manner as the gross LSP benefit.

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism, the Group has changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP liability and
has applied the above HKICPA guidance. The cessation of
applying the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of
HKAS 19 in conjunction with the enactment of the
Amendment Ordinance resulted in a catch-up profit or loss
adjustment in June 2022 for the service cost up to that date.
Since the amount of the catch-up profit or loss adjustment
was not material, the Group did not restate the comparative

figures in the consolidated financial statements.
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2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)*

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 12 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods on or after a date to be

determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate
that the application of all other new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated

financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current” and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current or
non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
“Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that the
classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within
12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the requirements introduced by
the 2020 Amendments have been modified by the 2022
Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that only
covenants with which an entity is required to comply with
on or before the end of the reporting period affect the
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants which
are required to comply with only after the reporting period
do not affect whether that right exists at the end of the
reporting period.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current” and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) (continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk that the
liabilities could become repayable within twelve months
after the reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when the
entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities is
subject to the entity complying with covenants within

twelve months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022
Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an
entity applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period
after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should
also apply the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March
2024, the application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments

will not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Annual Report 2024 44 #i



3.

REMBBRZEFHNEEREXSHABREN

3.1

GAMBREZFHEE

REVMBBRRERREBEHMDASHMZEE
MBMELRFARS - RFFE S BHRRZE
MmE BEASEANZESENSRETERER
B2RER ZESERAURGRRBERLN - 15 &
BUBBRERTHERERRBESREMERAT
FHEELMRREBARGIIARE 2 BERE
BIF o

EREIGEMBEREE  ERAEER=-Z =N
FE=A=t+-HZRBDAEELERBEED
24,456,000/ T ' EECBEHEZEANER 2 KK
REES °

BE-Z-_WE=A=+—HILFE  FXEHE
ERERSRELN6,390,0008 T - R=F_-WM
F=A=1T—H ((FEESEEE2RREEE
& $£4#923,558,00058 7T ; (ii)%36,500,00038 7T
REREE; (VTBAZRBARTRENS
16,225,000 7t ; BR(ivIREEMZEN A
365,536,0008 T 2 FFE AT REBEYRIR
BEYEATHIET - EERE BRELBEBERES
R/ BAERERITBET 2R EEEETHR
E BEREHBIAEBZEREE  LEE
BRANSERFARKREEESHEMRITRE -

A 7 S 25 A Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$24,456,000 as at 31
March 2024.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
generated operating cash flows of approximately
HK$6,390,000. As at 31 March 2024, (i) total cash
and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$23,558,000 were held by the Group, (ii)
approximately HK$36,500,000 of borrowings were
revolving in nature, (iii) unutilised bank facilities
amounted to approximately HK$16,225,000 were
available, and (iv) approximately HK$365,536,000
aggregate carrying value of land and buildings held for
own use and investment properties were available for
pledge. The Directors are of the view that they are
actively and regularly reviewing the Group’s debt
structure through roll-over and/or re-financing its
existing borrowings under current bank facilities, and
will consider make use of the unpledged assets to
obtain additional banking facilities, when necessary.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

Based on the aforesaid factors and consideration of the
cash flow forecast for the coming twelve months, the
Directors have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus, the Group will continue to adopt a going
concern basis of accounting when preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the
investment properties and land and buildings held for
own use, which are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and

services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value
in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and

best use.

For investment properties and land and buildings held
for own use which are transacted at fair value and a
valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that the results of

the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the

asset or liability.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information
Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns

through its power over the entity.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date on
which control commences until the date on which

control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from
intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of

impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

MERRZEHEERERSTHREER 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

EXREBIBEER (#) 3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

B8 2 AR IR s () Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

FERERTAREDBMRRR ZBRRERER
BEANBRFEABGEZIRAZ - RAEEE
AR FERESNGEEEREMEERER
2RI ERBERADFTFEARFRERER
BEREEWEAETEHRNDE -

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the owners

of the Company.

FEERHBLARATBRAEEG R ERZED

TILARRER 5 FIER © do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that

equity transactions.

EXRKELEZHNBE AR ZEGER  HRIERE
wuMBARzEERAE  UREMEREZFE
ERER R HMESARID - EAMELERS
HEBRERPHER - EAWE L ARE 2EM
BERNKREEFERRAABTE -

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interests
and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary is measured at fair

value when control is lost.

RABFBARR KA TAME R RNIRE -
RRAH EERREEEE AR - investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less

impairment losses.

fim
e
i

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Investment properties
Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn

rental income and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any indirectly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income. Gains or losses arising from a change in fair
value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognised in profit or loss for

the period in which they arise.

When the Group holds a property interest under an
operating lease to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, the interest is classified and
accounted for as an investment property on a

property-by-property basis.

If a property becomes an owner-occupied property
because its use has been changed as evidenced by
commencement of owner-occupation, the fair value of
the property at the date of change in use is considered

as the deemed cost for subsequent accounting.
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BRI Z2FERIHIEERERESTHEER 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

EXREBIBEER (#) 3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
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The land held for own use and buildings thereon are
stated at their revalued amount, being their fair value
at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent

accumulated depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity
to ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does
not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair values at the end of the

reporting period.

Changes arising on the revaluation of properties held
for own use are generally dealt with in other
comprehensive income and are accumulated
separately in equity in the property revaluation

reserve. The only exceptions are as follows:

e when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the amount held in the reserve in respect
of that same asset immediately prior to the

revaluation; and

e when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be
credited to profit or loss to the extent that a
deficit on revaluation in respect of that same
asset had previously been charged to profit or

loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)
If a property becomes an investment property because
its use has changed as evidenced by end of
owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the
date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the
property, the relevant revaluation reserve will be

transferred directly to accumulated losses.

Other items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight line method over their estimated useful lives

as follows:

Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired terms of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being 50 years from the

date of completion.

Leasehold improvements ~ Over the shorter of

5 years and the period

of the lease
Plant and machinery 10 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 to 10 years
Computer and office 3 to 5 years
equipment
Motor vehicles 5 years
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE=

ZoME=ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or
valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its

residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred
from the property revaluation reserve to accumulated

losses and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in
the consolidated statement of financial position except
for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and

equipment.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 "Leases" or
arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease

components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease

component and are accounted for by applying other

applicable standards.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of carpark spaces and certain
retail stores that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line

basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the

lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives

received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition

required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities
other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting
from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the

Group applied practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and

the lease term.
The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial

position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use

assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an

option to terminate the lease.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are not included in the measurement of
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are
recognised as expense in the period in which the

event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are

adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option,
in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date

of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease

payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group

accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more

underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect

the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the

modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the

relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate

stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future
lease payments as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, the Group applies the practical expedient to
remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting the
revised lease payments using the unchanged discount
rate and makes a corresponding adjustment to the
related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and

only if, both of these conditions are met:

e The modification is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark reform;

and

e The new basis for determining the lease payments
is economically equivalent to the previous basis
(i.e. the basis immediately preceding the

modification).
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient not
to assess whether the change is a lease modification if

all of the following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for

the lease immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and

conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a
lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to
reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in profit or loss

in the period in which the event occurs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All

other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value

model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers” to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated
from lease component on the basis of their relative

stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are

considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the

impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to

which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group

of cash-generating units.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (continued)
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another standard, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease under that standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another standard, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase

under that standard.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the

consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of

cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than

for investment or other purposes.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and

cash equivalents as defined above.

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale. Cost necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must

incur to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised. The
amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention

in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as

appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash

flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no

longer credit-impaired.
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3.

ZoME=ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including deposits paid, trade and other receivables
and bank balances) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in

credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future

conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed

individually.

For all other financial assets, ECL is measured at 12m
ECL unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a

default occurring since initial recognition.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that

is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk

has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if

available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit

default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its

debt obligations;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
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(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

e an actual or expected significant deterioration

in the operating results of the debtor; and

e an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environments of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes

past due.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

e a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default

occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate

determined at initial recognition.
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3. HEMBHRRZEHEEREARETHEFEER 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
(48 ) STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

3.2 EREFBEKER (&)
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised

cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a

loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables and borrowings) are subsequently measured

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire. On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when and
only when the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised

in profit or loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are

substantially the same.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria

is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s

performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group

performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good

or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants

will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such

grants are presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated

reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service is

provided.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Defined benefit plan obligations
The defined benefit plan of the Group has LSP under
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined
benefit plans is calculated by estimating the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in the
current and prior periods and discounting that amount.
For LSP obligations, the estimated amount of future
benefit is determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived
from the Group's MPF contributions that have been
vested with employees, which are deemed to be

contributions from the relevant employees.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE=

3.

ZoME=ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect

of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that
will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss (from which the deferred tax asset
arises) can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which

the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Income tax (continued)
The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is

probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set out
above, the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

not discounted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Income tax (continued)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the
right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease

liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities,
and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax

liability for all taxable temporary differences.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that

sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the individual
entity or the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and the following additional conditions are met:

e in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
individual entity or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously; or

o in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

e the same taxable entity; or

e different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend
to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE=

ZoME=ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)
Provisions (continued)
The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time

value of money is material).

Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was

measured.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The results of operations outside Hong Kong are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rate for the period unless exchange rate
fluctuate significantly during the period in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Statement of financial position items are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of an operation outside Hong Kong, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that operation outside Hong Kong is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the

profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or

sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.
Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

(a)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group's

parent.

(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(a)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which

the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same

third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the

Group or an entity related to the Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies information (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(i)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies: (continued)

()

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled

by a person identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(a) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity

(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected to

influence, or be influenced by, that person in

their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment

item reported in the consolidated financial statements,

are identified from the financial information provided

regularly to the Group’s senior executive management

for the purposes of allocating resources to, and

assessing the performance of, the Group’s various

geographical locations.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if

e the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

EREBER 2 EEH Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

BERZEMT (RTO N UTRAESREREAE
BBt RRBRTRHERESUBRRTIER 2SR
EREAFEZTENEG -

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that certain of the
Group's investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s
deferred taxation on investment properties, the Directors
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties in Mainland China
measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale is rebutted. For certain investment properties
in Hong Kong on which the “sale” presumption is not
rebutted, the Group has not recognised any deferred tax on
changes in fair value of investment properties in Hong
Kong above the qualified cost as the Group is not subject to
any income taxes on the fair value changes of the
investment properties in Hong Kong above the qualified

cost on disposal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment

The Group assesses regularly whether right-of-use assets
and property, plant and equipment have any indication of
impairment. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating units to which these assets
belong would be determined by reference to the higher of
their value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. Value
in use is determined using the discounted cash flow
method. Due to inherent risk associated with estimations in
the timing and magnitude of the future cash flows
calculated with certain growth rate as key input and fair
value less costs of disposal, the estimated recoverable
amount of the assets may be different from their actual
recoverable amount and profit or loss could be affected by
the accuracy of the estimations. Furthermore, the still
volatile and complicated business environment which was
marked by irrepressibly high inflation, interest rate hikes by
major central banks as a response in some developed
countries, escalating geopolitical conflicts and, in the case
of China, the ongoing crisis in the property sector, there are

potential disruptions to the Group's retail operations.

Valuation of investment properties and land and buildings
held for own use

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
land and buildings held for own use are assessed by the
Directors based on valuations prepared by an independent
firm of qualified professional property valuers by making
reference to the capitalisation rate and comparable market
transactions. The valuation models used by the property
valuer make use of market inputs. Should changes be made
to the market inputs, the corresponding valuation of
investment properties and land and buildings held for own

use would change.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Valuation of inventories

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts
of inventories with reference to aged inventories analysis
and historical consumption trends. Based on this review,
write-down of inventories will be made when the estimated
net realisable value of inventories decline below their
carrying amounts. Due to changes in market trends, actual
consumption may be different from estimation and profit or

loss could be affected by accuracy of this estimation.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group generated sales of fashion apparel and
accessories with customers mainly through its own retail
stores. For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
revenue from sales of fashion apparel and accessories is
recognised at a point in time when the goods are delivered

to the customers.

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Revenue from sales of fashion apparel and accessories is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being
the point where the customer purchases and takes the
goods at the retail stores directly or when the goods have
been transported to the customers’ specified location
(delivery). Transportation and other related activities that
incurred before customers obtain control of the related
products are considered as fulfilment activities. Payment of
the transaction price is generally due immediately at the
point the customer purchases the goods in the retail stores.
The transaction price received by the Group for goods that
require delivery is recognised as a contract liability until

the goods have been delivered to the customer.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(continued)

Customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a customer loyalty programme for sales
through the Group’s retail stores where customers
accumulate award points for purchases made which entitle
them to redeem award points as sales discounts in the
future. The transaction price is allocated to the product and
the award points on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. The award points expire every year and customers
can redeem the award points any time before the specified
expiration date. Revenue from the award points is
recognised when the award points are used or expired.
Contract liabilities, presented under “accrued charges”, are

recognised until the award points are used or expired.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

Contracts with customers with unsatisfied performance
obligations, including award points under the customer
loyalty programme, have original expected durations of one
year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
prices allocated to these unsatisfied performance

obligations are not disclosed.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment information

The Group manages its businesses by geographical
locations. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s senior
executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following two reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the

following reportable segments.

e The Hong Kong operation represents the sales of house

brands and imported brands in Hong Kong.

e The outside Hong Kong operation represents the
manufacture of house brands in Mainland China and
sales of house brands and imported brands in

Mainland China, Macau and Taiwan.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results attributable to

each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets

attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reportable segment profit/loss is
profit/loss from operations with the exclusion of other
income, other gains and losses and certain administrative
and other operating expenses. Income tax is not allocated

to reportable segments.

Segment assets and liabilities of the Group are not reported
to the Group’s senior executive management. As a result,
reportable segment assets and liabilities have not been

presented in the consolidated financial statements.
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WERDEBEER () 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
DEBE R (&) Segment information (continued)
AT2RDPD2ETRREMEIMMANER 2 S 5T The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
BRMERE - same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
i BEEN ATEHR HAH
Hong Kong Outside Hong Kong  Total reportable segments
“B-RmE -T-=F -BCRE --=F ZRCOME CRCCR
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
TERT TER THL TER THR TER
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
HREF MR Revenue from external customers 83,913 70,846 53,398 57,100 137,311 127,946
7 Eb R Inter-segment revenue* 7,459 10,636 20,697 19,968 28,156 30,604
parcidl b Segment revenue 91,372 81,482 74,095 77,068 165,467 158,550
AEEF (FE) Segment profit (loss) 18,370 11,261 (2,475) (4,868) 15,895 6,393
R EDBEERT A Amount regularly provided to the Group's
1 E B e A & B 5 senior executive management included in
THEBASRMHL the measurement of segment results:
2H
NE BERREBINE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 260 114 581 795 841 909
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16,553 14,476 5,857 7,037 22,410 21,513
N% - BERREZ Impairment losses on property, plant and
HERE equipment = - 219 372 219 372
EREEEZHERE Impairment losses on right-of-use assets 587 800 2,306 2,106 2,893 2,906

* pEEBRENRERHE ZSEEE -

*
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5. WERDHBER (&)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

DEBE R (&) Segment information (continued)
7 BB 55 R R AE 2 B R Reconciliation of segment revenue and results
—E_UE —EC=F
2024 2023
FTHET TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
i = Revenue
Pl P L Total segment revenue 165,467 158,550
o R ] U 2 4 85 Elimination of inter-segment revenue (28,156) (30,604)
137,311 127,946
2 EEF Segment profit 15,895 6,393
RATYE  MERZEINE Unallocated depreciation of property,
plant and equipment (12,808) (12,553)
AOMERBEENE Unallocated depreciation of right-of-use
assets 92) (29)
=g i Other unallocated expenses (33,932) (33,312)
Ht AR Bz R EE Other income and other gains and losses 1,651 14,521
RENERARERH 2 Loss on changes in fair value of investment
BB properties (16,136) (21,768)
ELE=gWN Finance costs (4,416) (2,117)
BRF AT EE Loss before taxation (49,838) (48,865)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment information (continued)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers; and (ii) the Group’s investment
properties, property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use
assets (“specified non-current assets”). The geographical
location of customers is based on the location at which the
goods were delivered. The geographical location of the
specified non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the asset in the case of investment properties
and property, plant and equipment, and the location of

operations in the case of right-of-use assets.

HREF W EEFRRDEE
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
—ENEF —=E-= —EC-ME —E_=
2024 2023 2024 2023
FHET FET FTER TET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
"B Hong Kong 83,913 70,846 362,931 388,236
B Macau 11,463 15,528 8,826 1,500
==l =7 lvnp:i Mainland China 31,160 32,095 141,483 183,905
=y Taiwan 10,775 9,477 281 -
53,398 57,100 150,590 185,405
137,311 127,946 513,521 573,641
EFHLTEEFZEH Information about major customers
BE-Z-_NER-Z-=ZF=ZA=Z+—-HLFE" During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there
MERBE-IIAEFZUEEAEE REBE 2 was no single external customer that contributed 10% or

10%3% BA £ o

more of the Group's total revenue.

Annual Report 2024 4FJE4F #

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % ¥ B B 5 [ A5 B 2 w]

131



132

Ao 7 T 25 A Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

6. HWA 6. OTHER INCOME
—E_MFE ===

2024 2023

TERT TET

HK$’000 HK$’000

REYEHRSWAELE Gross rental income from investment

properties 3,821 4,758

RITERZFIEWA Interest income from bank deposits 735 17

BR A% & WA Service fee income 945 1,208

209 RESHFHEBEZHESER Covid-19 related rent concessions - 3,403

RS 77 Bl (BT EE) Government grants (Note) 424 2,820

HAh Others 217 239

6,142 12,445
B . ERTEEZSRNEE[A2019B R ESREES Note: No Covid-19 related subsidies were recognised nor received
By o AL —FE  AEEB2019BRESEAE during the year. During the prior year, the Group
BB AFBEL2,820,000% T - Erh8g6,0005E recognised government grants of HK$2,820,000 in respect
5TI%1,960,0005 7 B & B R AT ARt > i IE g of Covid-19 related subsidies, of which HK$86,000 and

stEI R R RSB B -

7. HMWERER

HK$1,960,000 relates to Distance Business Programme and
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
Government, respectively.

7.  OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

—E_MEFE —_E=-=
2024 2023
THERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
REALEEEN KR Gain on early termination of lease contracts 395 300
5 (F518) s F5E Exchange (loss) gain, net (1,507) 1,606
HEWE - BERKHE2WE Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 98 170
HERKB LT 2RE 2B (Mi3E25) Loss on disposal of investment in subsidiaries
(note 25) (3,477) —
(4,491) 2,076
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

FreBiER 8. INCOME TAX CREDIT
—E_NE —E-=F
2024 2023
FTHET FTHET
HK$’000 HK$’000

AR E-BREN Current tax — Outside Hong Kong

NEERE Provision for the year (1,393) (317)
BEFERETE Under-provision for prior years (2,440) -
(3,833) (317)
BRI (FfEE22) Deferred tax (note 22) 5,561 6,281
KR Income tax credit 1,728 5,964

RIEEEMAHHAESHEHE cEKEEERS
2,000,000 Tt B R R AG 128.25% M B R EH - mBEB
2,000,00058 T HIE R B2 16.5% M B REH - T/FE
RMARFFESHEHENEEER GG EEIR6.5%
N —HEEGH - EERA > MARGFESHEFES
EMPIPREBEHASUERRMSLTEKR -
I REZMEFE  EEBLEEBNHEBLRER
BASTERBERIR16.5%EHERBH - ARAK
EEAMEFELENE BELERR SR ERS
mA T BREEEKE  RUERNGS M HRRTIE
BEENESHERE -

RIBEPBEEEMMEHE ((REMEH ) REXEMREH
EERKG > PEAMHELARMEFENRES
25% °

Annual Report 2024 4FJE4F #

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of a qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
The Directors consider the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, Hong Kong Profits Tax for subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made in the consolidated
financial statements as the Group did not have assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong or the assessable profits were

absorbed by tax losses for both years.
Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

and Implementation Regulation of the EIT law, the tax rate

of Mainland China subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % ¥ B B 5 [ A5 B 2 w]

133



Ao 7 T 25 A Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024
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FrEHiEE (&)

PS4 75 B T B s 32,0008 P9 7T (F8E 731,000
7) {B{E #4300,00052 9 7t (18E 1291,0005 7T ) (Y FE
RBURAEN F3%EI%NBERZEBHM MESS
FAREERZNRNAR BE-_ZE_NFR=-F
“=HF=ZA=t+-—HLEE  BEMRBFETHEIER
BB Z B FERB A R T 5 A600,0008F9 7T
(#8E 582,000/ 7t) * #H600,00002 M 5T (HE R
582,000 7t ) HY FEER B % Fl Bl 3% & B B R 12 % M B

REMEEER (BEAE) BEE 2B EIRBEENE
BEZRIBHENE REBEE-ZT-_NF=A=1+—
BLEEFE  YRAEZHWBARZERBER17% (=
BZ=F 1 17%) °

MRIFEBRABE  RAAEEEGRAEERPEAM
ZHNELEE_ZTTLF+T_A=+—HZBEEZ
EFMEH Z 2 IRIZ10% 5 ZHAFENE - AREREE
FENELEYHEARIMRALZMBLAREEEZE
#E METERENREAER KRB ER5% o
BERR AEEEEEURBRDIKZERR -
DER D RZERE BREN 2B BEDIELEMSH
£1&7,058,0008 T (ZE == : 7,115,000 7T) °

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

Macau Complementary Tax is levied at progressive rates
ranging from 3% to 9% on the taxable income above
Macau Pataca (“MOP”) 32,000 (equivalent to HK$31,000)
but below MOP300,000 (equivalent to HK$291,000), and
thereafter at a fixed rate of 12%. For the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023, a special complementary tax
incentive was provided to the effect that the tax free
income threshold was MOP600,000 (equivalent to
HK$582,000) with profit above MOP600,000 (equivalent to
HK$582,000) being taxed at a fixed rate of 12%.

Taxation arising in other jurisdiction including Taiwan is
calculated at the rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdiction.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the applicable tax
rates for subsidiaries domiciled in Taiwan is 17% (2023:
17%).

The Group is subject to withholding tax at a rate of 10%
(unless reduced by treaty) on distribution of profits
generated after 31 December 2007 from the Group’s
foreign-invested enterprises in Mainland China. As all of
the Group’s foreign-invested enterprises are directly and
wholly owned by Hong Kong incorporated subsidiaries, a
reduced rate of 5% is applicable in the calculation of this
withholding tax. Deferred tax liabilities of HK$7,058,000
(2023: HK$7,115,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution of
these retained profits since, in the opinion of the Directors,
these earnings are not intended to be distributed in the

foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

FreBiER (&) 8. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)
FAMBHERAEFSERREME2EKERAE The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the

HBRB AR IRIT ¢

loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

—EmEF —E-=
2024 2023
FTHET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
Br%i AT BT 1R Loss before taxation (49,838) (48,865)
REHBERBREEEES Notional tax at tax rates applicable to losses
BEAEAKRE in the tax jurisdictions concerned
TEZERMIE 9,415 9,051
PRIz RETE Tax effect of non-deductible expenses (1,743) (1,565)
BAGHBA B L Tax effect of non-taxable income 799 1,586
BEFERETE Under-provision in respect of prior years (2,440) -
RERMEBHRBREZHETE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised (7,054) (5,783)
FREFHMEHERZ Tax effect of tax losses utilised during the
MBS year 2,955 2,024

ARERTHRGEEEEZ
BETE

BRAEAMARER 2 AHNRERER

Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences not recognised (290) 361
Utilisation of deductible temporary

differences previously not recognised 86 290

1,728 5,964
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

FREER 9. LOSS FOR THE YEAR
FREBESMER (G A) TI&E : Loss for the year is arrived at after charging (crediting):
—E_NE —E_=F
2024 2023
THERT THET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ETIRA Staff costs
EEM < (FfEE10) Directors’ remuneration (note 10) 8,434 8,114
H 8 TR Other staff costs
HE TR EMER Salaries, wages and other benefits 55,439 47,979
REMTRAKET B Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plan 3,827 3,650
BTHAREHE Total staff costs 67,700 59,743
RITEBEZFE Interests on bank borrowings 2,919 1,238
HEEBEZFIE Interests on lease liabilities 1,497 879
MERATEE Total finance costs 4,416 2,117
AT & Auditors’ remuneration 800 800
M- BERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 13,649 13,462
EREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 22,502 21,542
WEEE (Gt AEEMR Impairment losses (included in cost of sales,
DEREERZURTER distribution and selling expenses and
HiEEMXA) - administrative and other operating
expenses) on:
- BEREE — Property, plant and equipment 219 372
-ERAEEE — Right-of-use assets 2,893 2,906
REVEZHERARERE Rental income from investment properties
X Hi77,0005% 7T less direct outgoings of HK$77,000
(ZEZ=% 73,0008 ) (2023: HK$73,000) (3,744) (4,685)
BRARBI 2 FERA Cost of inventories recognised as
an expense* 26,827 34,666
* BRAAXZEFERLBREEINARTEMREZ ¥ Cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes

7,234,0008 T (ZZ == : 6,984,000 T) * &
BAREANTAEZER IR AHNEBLREZER

BEH o

HK$7,234,000 (2023: HK$6,984,000) relating to staff costs
and depreciation, in which these amounts are also included
in the respective total amounts disclosed separately in this
note for each of these expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

10. EERIFETHRAEM S 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
BREE (BEXTETHAS) 2B EMBMESHTIW The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Directors,
T including the chief executive, are as follows:
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—-HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE 2R
RENEA BIK
Salaries, HEREEN
allowances BfETEAL  Retirement
#£  and benefits Discretionary scheme At
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
TER TERT TET THET TET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
HITES Executive directors
BREE Mr. Chan - 5,847 - 18 5,865
Rzt Ms. Tsui = 3,457 = 18 3,475
BB & Chan Sze Chun = 420 = 18 438

BIFHTEE  Independent non-executive

directors
REE Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 90 _ _ _ 90
REGE Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 90 _ _ _ 90
BHE Wong Shuk Ying, Helen 90 - - - 90
REX Ng Lai Man, Carmen 90 - - _ 90

360 9,724 - 54 10,138
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

10. EERFETHAEME (&) 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
(continued)
BE-Z-=F=A=1t—-HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2023

=B

REWEF L3N
Salaries, =t Bl
allowances B TEAL Retirement
#£&  and benefits Discretionary scheme 4ot
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
TET TER TET TER TET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
HITES Executive directors
BREE Mr. Chan - 5,647 - 18 5,665
Rt Ms. Tsui = 3,331 - 18 3,349
R B & Chan Sze Chun = 420 = 18 438
BIFHTEE  Independent non-executive
directors
REE Yu Yuk Ying, Vivian 90 = - - 90
RELE Chu Chun Kit, Sidney 90 - - - 90
MR Wong Shuk Ying, Helen 90 - - - 90
270 9,398 - 54 9,722
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

10. EERFETHAEME (& 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS

e RURBYRINEENESREREBZEEYEZ
m{EMHE£1,704,0008 Tt (ZZE = =4 : 1,608,000/

JT) °

RTESCHBRANKSEREE CRERERE
WRESFHE -

REETARRRAZEBTHAL @ KR EAFTKE
ZHECBREREREETRASEEREZME -

EXFRBTESHMEERREREERAFAREE
EEBAMEERE2ME -

IR TEESCMEERREHEESH
RERB ML -

REEFER  AEEHEXVHMEeFEEFERRE
HEMBAEESAMBF 2 RS ABEBEE - F
R HTESREE RLETRREBEEEHER
ZvETHE 2@BEINAZTERL(ZE_=
99,000/ 7T) - EB T (ZFE == : 54,0008 ) &
360,00078 75 (ZE==4F : 360,000587T) ° IEMEFE
ER UTEBVFHATESHEEAHE -

RZZBZ=F=ZA=+—-H ' RBEXEIEZERSE
DNEBLFHTES  BE-Z=ENA—BBEN -

(continued)

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind include an
amount of HK$1,704,000 (2023: HK$1,608,000) which
represents the market rental value of own properties

provided to Directors.

The discretionary bonuses to the Directors are determined
by reference to the Group’s performance and approved by

the board of directors.

Mr. Chan is also the chief executive of the Company and
his emoluments disclosed above include those for services

rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the

affairs of the Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive

directors shown above were for their services as Directors.

During both years, no emoluments was paid by the Group
to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. During the
year, the executive directors, Mr. Chan, Ms. Tsui and Mr.
Chan Sze Chun have waived certain of their emoluments
amounted to HK$nil (2023: HK$99,000), HKS$nil (2023:
HK$54,000) and HK$360,000 (2023: HK$360,000),
respectively. None of the independent non-executive

directors has waived any emoluments in both years.

On 31 March 2023, Dr. Ng Lai Man Carmen has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the

Company with effect from 1 April 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

1. AEBEEMEA L 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
AUBEEMEALH MU (ZTZ=F W) ESE Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
ZHEERMEEI10FHIEE - HSf=u (ZF==%F: (2023: two) are Directors whose emoluments are disclosed
SU)ATZMESBEBEMNT ¢ in note 10. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of

the other three (2023: three) individuals are as follows:

—E_MFE ===
2024 2023
THET FE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
e  EUREYREF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,192 5,322
BB TE AL Discretionary bonuses 403 396
RREHEIE R Retirement scheme contributions 54 136
5,649 5,854
=N (ZEZ=F  =u)MEeBSALTZEESET The emoluments of the three (2023: three) individuals with
JEER : the highest emoluments are within the following bands:
A
Number of individuals
“E-MEF —EC=F
2024 2023
1,000,0017 7t — 1,500,000 J© HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 2 1
1,500,001 7t —2,000,0005% T HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 = 1
2,500,001 Jt — 3,000,000 JT HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 = 1
3,000,001 jt —3,500,0005% 7T HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 1 =
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A 7 S 25 A Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

12. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed to the ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023,

nor has any dividend been

proposed since the end of the reporting period.

ERER 13. LOSS PER SHARE
AAREBEARGERERNEEDREUT BE The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
S the owners of the Company is based on the following data:
—EomE i g
5F. | Loss 2024 2023
FERT TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
RUGFEEREREEZ Loss for the year for the purposes of
FREE calculating basic loss per share (48,100) (42,857)
—E_UE —EBE-=F
4B Number of shares 2024 2023
TR TR
000 ‘000
RUFEEREREEZ Weighted average number of ordinary shares
EERMETIIE for the purpose of calculating basic loss
per share 287,930 287,930

HRAQRAMEFELEEMEBETEN 2EBR

7 B E25ESREFES -

Diluted loss per share is

not presented as the Company

does not have any dilutive potential ordinary share for both

years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

14. % BERRBUARREME

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT

PROPERTIES
B Br
%E EKR
WA RESR BAEER
BEERZ RAE
THREEY Furniture,
Land and fixtures, n%- KE
buildings computer FET
held for I¥%E and office BENE  Sub-total of
own use R#®  equipment %8 property, RENE
carried at Plant and and motor Leasehold plant and Investment @zt
fair value machinery vehicles  improvements equipment properties Total
TEn TEn TEn TEn TER TER TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HAGMEE: Cost or valuation:
RZE-ZEmA-A At 1 April 2022 349,234 1,420 20,515 25,496 396,665 250,916 047,581
EiE Exchange adjustment (5,363) (106) (269) (636) (6,374) (2,958) (9,332)
BE Additions - 36 1,626 568 2,230 - 2,230
HE /s Disposals/write-off - (288) (835) (8,502) (9,625) - (9,625)
EffEH Deficit on revaluation (1,781) = = = (1,781) = (1,781)
B ERHEENE Less: Elimination of accumulated
depreciation on revaluation (12,299) - - - (12,298) - (12,298)
REZZERIDAERD Decrease in fair value recognised
in profit or loss - = - - - (21,768) (21,768)
RZBZ=F=F=1+-HR  At31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023
“E-ZEMA-A 329,792 1,062 21,037 16,926 368,817 226,190 595,007
EiE Exchange adjustment (1,832) (40) (123) (140) (2,135) (1,292) (3,427)
EE Additions = 54 107 2,707 2,868 = 2,868
MRENZERENF Transfer from investment properties to
BERRE property, plant and equipment 70,647 - - - 70,647 (70,647) -
HE /s Disposals/uwrite-off - - (761) (2,426) (3,187) . (3,187)
HENE A (Fi25) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 25) (31,469) = = = (31,469) = (31,469)
EffE4 Deficit on revaluation (16,269) > o o (16,269) - (16,269)
B EGHERGE Less: Elimination of accumulated
depreciation on revaluation (12,348) - - - (12,348) - (12,348)
REEZERRAARERD Decrease in fair value recognised
in profit or loss - - - - - (16,136) (16,136)
R-B-mE=A=+-A At31 March 2024 338,521 1,076 20,260 17,067 376,924 138,115 515,039
& Representing:
B Cost - 1,076 20,260 17,067 38,403 - 38,403
tE Valuation 338,521 - - - 338,521 138,115 476,636
338,521 1,076 20,260 17,067 376,924 138,115 515,039
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

14. V% BERREURREYE (& 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT

PROPERTIES (continued)

& B
%E BHR
NARESER BAEEE
BERRAZ RAE
THREEY Furniture,
Land and fixtures, ng BE
buildings computer FET
held for I¥%E and office BEWE  Sub-total of
own use R#®  equipment %8 property, RENE
carried at Plant and and motor Leasehold plant and Investment @zt
fair value machinery vehicles  improvements equipment properties Total
TERL TiEn TiEn TiEn TER TER TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HERAE: Depreciation and impairment:
RZBZZ#MA-H At 1 April 2022 - 1,420 20,507 23,489 45,416 - 45,416
EXAE Exchange adjustment - (105) (268) (480) (853) = (853)
AEERE Charge for the year 12,298 3 131 1,030 13,462 - 13,462
RERCERRAAESE Impairment losses recognised in
(tat15) profit or loss (note 15) - - 1 371 372 - 372
HE /s Disposals/write-off - (288) (835) (8,502) (9,625) - (9,625)
B Elimination on revaluation (12,298) - - - (12,298) - (12,299)
RZBZ=£=F=+-AK  At31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023
“E-=4MA-A - 1,030 19,536 15,908 36,474 = 36,474
ERAZ Exchange adjustment = (38) (121) (134) (293) - (293)
REEHE Charge for the year 12,348 11 333 957 13,649 = 13,649
RERZERRAREFE Impairment losses recognised in
(Htz215) profit or loss (note 15) - - - 219 219 - 219
HE /i Disposals/write-off - = (761) (2,426) (3,187) = (3,187)
EfhEHE Elimination on revaluation (12,348) - - - (12,348) - (12,348)
R-Z-mE=f=+-A At 31 March 2024 - 1,003 18,987 14,524 34,514 - 34,514
REFE: Net book value:
R-E-ME=f=1+-A At 31 March 2024 338,521 73 1,273 2,543 342,410 138,115 480,525
RZB-=%=8=1-H At 31 March 2023 329,792 32 1,501 1,018 332,343 226,190 558,533

R-ZEBE-NE=A=+—H8  BREAES111,100,000
BT (ZEZ=% :121,500,00087T) 2 EEEHZ
T RERYRREVECHRBITEEFRIER (R
FaE21) o

As at 31 March 2024, land and buildings held for own use
and investment properties with carrying amounts of
HK$111,100,000 (2023: HK$121,500,000) in aggregate

were pledged against bank borrowings (see note 21).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_T-NWF=A=+—H8ILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

14. YE -BERREURREYWE (&) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES (continued)

EEEWEZRAETE Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties
R-CZ-_MER-_ZF_=F=A=+—H FEEY The fair value of the Group’s properties as at 31 March
EZRAREDBRBEAEEL BREAECSEREXY 2024 and 2023 were arrived at on the basis of valuation
EEEMPRAEMTERADNR-Z-_NER=-F carried out as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 by Centaline
“ZHEZA=T-HETZAEREEMSH - RE Surveyors Limited, independent firm of qualified
EHBEYENIAER  FAEENSRITHREEED professional property valuers not connected with the
B EMNWmEENEERDRAABETENEAE Group. In determining the fair value of the relevant
% o properties, the Group’s senior executive management has

discussion with the valuer on the appropriate valuation

techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

RBERAR  AEENERBERAABERNERF Details of the Group’s properties and information about the
BEINWT : fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period are
as follows:
R-E-QmE
=A=t+—H
ZRRE

Fair value as
E=& at 31 March

Level 3 2024
THET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEMAALEE Recurring fair value measurement
REYE Investment properties:
B8 Hong Kong 21,000 21,000
R A Mainland China 117,115 117,115
BFEEBRAZ L RESEY : Land and buildings held for own use:
&8 Hong Kong 320,500 320,500
AR ER A 3 Mainland China 18,021 18,021
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES (continued)

A 7 S 25 A Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZoME=ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties

(continued)

R-Z-=F%
=B=+—H
ZARE
Fair value as
B=H at 31 March
Level 3 2023
FTHER FTHET
HK$'000 HK$’000
AEEMEARETE Recurring fair value measurement
REME Investment properties:
BB Hong Kong 95,686 95,686
i A Mainland China 130,504 130,504
BEEAAZ T RESEY Land and buildings held for own use:
=B Hong Kong 278,115 278,115
AR A Mainland China 51,677 51,677
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HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

14. Y% BERZEURREYE (&) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES (continued)

KEBYEZ A ARETE(F) Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, one land and

buildings held for own use in Mainland China has been

BEZZE_NE=A=1—HILLEE  RFBERHtZ
— B EFERALT R EEYERBHEHRB LA MER
HE=Z4  FRMES (ZE=F : &)

transferred out of Level 3 through the disposal of

146

subsidiaries, as disclosed in note 25 (2023: nil).

ERFAEE
WAHE
fHERZE Significant
Valuation unobservable £ [E
techniques inputs Range
REBZREWE-TZ EELEBE MEEYES -18.6%%Z-3.3%
fEi 258 (3T &) (ZB==F:

Investment properties in Hong Kong

— Industrial

REBZRENE-BF

Investment properties in Hong Kong

— Commercial

RAPBEIR 2 REYFE-T%

Investment properties in Mainland China

— Industrial

RepBE R RENE-BE

Investment properties in Mainland China

— Commercial

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥

Direct comparison

approach

BEELEBE

Direct comparison
approach

LON- N |47

Income capitalisation

approach

WAEARLE

Income capitalisation

approach

Annual Report 2024 44 #i

Premium (discount)
on quality of the
buildings

HEENEE
fEH 2R E (&)

Premium (discount)
on quality of the
buildings

EAf®

Capitalisation rate

EXfLE®

Capitalisation rate

-12.6%£9.0%)
-18.6% to -3.3%
(2023: -12.6% to 9.0%)

-47 4%2%228.4%
(Z8==
-43.1%25.4%)

-47.4% to 28.4%

(2023: -43.1% to 5.4%)

3.0%
(ZEZ=%F:3.0%)
3.0%

(2023: 3.0%)

4.0%

(ZEZ=F 1 4.0%)
4.0%

(2023: 4.0%)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

14. V£ BERRELURKREWE (&) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT

PROPERTIES (continued)

EEEWEZRAETE (B

Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties

(continued)

BEXRTEE

BABE

GERE Significant
Valuation unobservable Efi
techniques inputs Range
RABERE 2 RENE-—EE WABERMEE = EN S 1.9%
(ZEZ=%:1.9%)
Investment properties in Mainland China Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate 1.9%

— Residential

RPBERE 2 RENE-EE

Investment properties in Mainland China

— Residential

REBSEERZLIHRESEY T

Land and buildings held for own use in Hong Kong

— Industrial

REBGEERZLHREEY -E

Land and buildings held for own use in Hong Kong
— Residential

RAEBEARBBEERCTEREEY -BX

Land and buildings held for own use in Mainland
China — Commercial

Annual Report 2024 4FJE4F #

approach

KAE AL E

Income capitalisation
approach

BEELEBE

Direct comparison
approach

BEELEBUE

Direct comparison
approach

HEREE

Direct comparison
approach

BR®

Capitalisation rate

HEENEE
2R E (&)

Premium (discount)
on quality of the
buildings

HEEYEE
B 2R 18 (4 %)

Premium (discount)
on quality of the
buildings

NEEYEE
B 2B E (IE)
Premium (discount)

on quality of the
buildings

(2023: 1.9%)

1.7%

(Z8==
12.7%F1.6%)
1.7%

(2023: -12.7% to 1.6%)

-18.6%%6.1%
(ZEBE=-=F:
-12.6%%5.4%)
-18.6% to 6.1%

(2023: -12.6% to 5.4%)

-11.7%%23.2%
(ZE==
-2.7%Z15.8%)

-11.7% to 23.2%

(2023: -2.7% to 15.8%)

-10.0%%-1.0%

(===
-10.0%£3.2%)
-10.0% to -1.0%

(2023: -10.0% to 3.2%)
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14. V£ BERRELURKREWE (&) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT

148

TEBEWEZQARETE (F)

UREBBRTEABFFERZLBREENY Z AR
BENZ2ZHRALEAFLBRNEERE - RAFTS
BEEEETE -

RENMEZDAEDINSZHBHETFLBRNES
5 RARTSEEREE SGI)EREHEEREE
ZHEREEEFPWABRBESNLMEE -

BEEEBGEMERBERITE DI EREYER
HEENLER - BEENERRS  RETSBSIN
EBRE BERQIABETELA -

WABERCERERANERNCRERRZEYOER D
SHERR AR -EERUEMFHARZ - AR
BEFEETSHSEEREERE HEXRMERAE
BRI -

BE-_Z-_NMNE=A=+—HLFE EFKEH
2T REBEYFRES 2B M E 416,269,000 T
(ZB==%F : EfLE41,781,00087T) REMEZME
WRtER o Ll IFFE A2 Lt REZEYIRESL
BRARBNENE R-ZE_NE=A=+—HZ
ERMEER H44,141,0008 T (ZF==% 42,249,000
BIT) °

BE_Z_NE=A=1+—HLEEFE BREVEAIR
BEREIESE 2E1816,136,0008 T (ZE =4 :
E54121,768,000/8 7T) B R IEZER o

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥

PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s properties
(continued)

The fair value of land and buildings held for own use
located in Hong Kong and Mainland China is determined
on an open market value basis, by making reference to the

comparable sales evidence in the relevant locality.

The fair value of investment properties is determined (i) on
an open market value basis, by making reference to the
comparable sales evidence in the relevant locality; or (ii) by
capitalising the current rent derived from the existing
tenancies with the provision for any revisionary income

potential.

The premium or discount used in direct comparison
approach is specific to the building compared to the recent
sales. Higher premium or lower discount for higher quality
buildings will result in a higher fair value measurement.

The capitalisation rate used in income capitalisation
approach has been adjusted for the expected market rental
growth, occupancy rate, quality and location of the
building. The fair value measurement is positively
correlated to the market rental value and negatively

correlated to the capitalisation rate.

Revaluation deficit of HK$16,269,000 (2023: deficit of
HK$1,781,000) arising from revaluation of land and
buildings held for own use is recognised in other
comprehensive income during the year ended 31 March
2024. Had the above land and buildings held for own use
been carried at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation, the carrying amounts would have been
HK$44,141,000 (2023: HK$42,249,000) at 31 March 2024.

The loss arising from changes in fair value of investment
properties of HK$16,136,000 (2023: loss of
HK$21,768,000) is recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 March 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-Z-ME=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

15. FHAREEE 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
HEME HEME
-Z2E5 —-WRAZE
Leased Leased
properties - properties - ot
retail shop office Total
THET TET TERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B Cost:
R-B--—#mA—H At 1 April 2022 177,063 9,792 186,855
B XA Exchange adjustment (1,570) (600) (2,170)
Z2E Additions 1,041 94 1,135
HEETE: Modification of lease term 6,525 - 6,525
REHK JJ:?EV‘:‘A % Early termination of lease contracts (4,072) (684) (4,756)
HESHER Expiration of lease contracts (18,865) (153) (19,018)
R-Z2-=f=ZA=+—H At 31 March 2023 and
KZE-=FNA—H 1 April 2023 160,122 8,449 168,571
EHAE Exchange adjustment (454) (254) (708)
1 = Additions 24,171 243 24,414
HEGETIBET Modification of lease term 19,026 - 19,026
kiﬂﬂjﬁ% a4 Early termination of lease contracts (1,250) (544) (1,794)
HESNER Expiration of lease contracts (40,974) (2,272) (43,246)
R-ZZE-ME=A=+—H At 31 March 2024 160,641 5,622 166,263
HERREE : Depreciation and impairment:
W-ZB-—#mA—AH At1 April 2022 144,929 9,792 154,721
fE AR Exchange adjustment (1,332) (600) (1,932)
REERE Charge for the year 21,513 29 21,542
REZREBRINEEE Impairment losses recognised in
profit or loss 2,906 - 2,906
ERERITHESA Early termination of lease contracts (4,072) (684) (4,756)
HEEHNER Expiration of lease contracts (18,865) (153) (19,018)
R-ZEZ=F=A=+-—H At 31 March 2023 and 1 April
KR=ZEBE-=F01F—H 2023 145,079 8,384 153,463
ERAE Exchange adjustment (298) (253) (551)
REERE Charge for the year 22,410 92 22,502
REREBRIANEEE Impairment losses recognised in
profit or loss 2,893 - 2,893
RERILEEEH Early termination of lease contracts (1,250) (544) (1,794)
HESHER Expiration of lease contracts (40,974) (2,272) (43,246)
R-ZBE-_ME=A=+—H At 31 March 2024 127,860 5,407 133,267
BRIEHE Net carrying value:
R-E-_WME=A=+-—H At 31 March 2024 32,781 215 32,996
R-ZB-_=%=H=+—H At 31 March 2023 15,043 65 15,108
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HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

15. EAREE (&) 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

—E-EF —ECZ=fF

2024 2023

TER TET

HK$’000 HK$’000

RS HEMAX Expense relating to short-term leases 4,286 6,131

R EHEEERREEZ Variable lease payments not included in the

AEEENR measurement of lease liabilities 8,330 7,079

HEZRSREAE Total cash outflow for leases 41,862 44,983
RMEFE  AEERAXBEEHABEAE = For both years, the Group leases factory buildings, retail
EE BEARSHERRLAZE - HESNITIL—FZF shops, department store counters and offices for its
IFWEEHES - BHNRAENEEDHE  AEER operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
T [E WY A5R TR R AR 1 o OB TE 75 B % R4 T AT 88 5P of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
B HRE  AEBEASHNERYEES N T AT basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
ZHARR o conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the

length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which

the contract is enforceable.

150  Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M 4 BR 2 &) Annual Report 2024 44 #i



FERREEE (&)
ZEEHESAEFEEHERERRAIEETEH
EREREWE  2EREENE TE LR AR
ABEEMNREFEREFIETE o I o] & KIK
REELRIER - TRERDEASEELEMEHE
BE RN FEAMRAEZSEEEERA - 8
EEZ_NER_Z_=F=A=+—HLEEE B
f/ EAEEEEAACEER TEHESERESHEN
T :

15.

BE-_Z_NF=A=+—HLFE

A 7 S 25 A Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE=

15.

ZoME=ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Leases of retail shops are either with only fixed lease
payments terms or contain variable lease payment terms
that are based on certain percentage of sales and minimum
annual lease payment that are fixed over the lease term.
Some variable payment terms include cap clauses. The
payment terms are common in retail shops in Hong Kong,
Macau, Mainland China and Taiwan where the Group
operates. The amount of fixed and variable lease payments
paid/payable to relevant lessors for the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

ERRNEN Gk 3EA REHE
Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
THER THERT FTHEx
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
WEATZHEHENRZ Retail shops without variable
ZER lease payments 848 - 848
HEUEBEENRIERZ Retail shops with variable lease
ZEJR payments 29,555 8,330 37,885
30,403 8,330 38,733
BE_ESE-_=F=B=+—HIEE For the year ended 31 March 2023
ERAEEA CIE- 208N RBHE
Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
FHET FTHET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WHEASEENTZ Retail shops without variable
ZER lease payments 1,203 - 1,203
HEUEBEEFRIERZ Retail shops with variable lease
ZEE payments 32,944 7,079 40,023
34,147 7,079 41,226
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HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

15. EAREE (&) 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

1562

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥

ERTRARARNERM B E A HEEREHT
EEREENAERARES - BHARUFTLA
89 3 4t B 4515 SRAO LL 36 A

HERR

BE—ZE-_-F=-FA=t-HLFE ZHZEEH
REEARERNEEAZBM Z6EA AR 10%
Z100%NEERAEEREESER -

H2019BRESHEENEEERELENZSHSRA
RHFEEBVEHREERE16.46BEMTEIEMG
AEBERTTEREAEZTTEEREHEETEMAE
BT -BE-ZE-_=F=HA=+—HILEE AR
HEAREEEEZER D E 23,403,000/ 7T - HAH
ENREHNTERIRETEHENR GrAHM
WA) o

BB FT Ak

HRASEZEEHRRAXE FREEEERAT
AREFS  AHEBEERREEARDE  BEXR
R 2 AT U B BR A TR E R AL o

EReEAENARESENREMFABETEME
EoZitEERARSREER  FHBEACELAEE
EEEME AESREESENRGHSHRNG
BHEE AIR—ZFE-_MNFE=R=+—BHBERBIAEER
R13.5% (ZFBZ=5F 1 13.5%) BE%E - FHEE
BE-BEFERIAEEENR  ERBESREEL
BUBARBUREEBE TS RENEHMERE -

The overall financial effect of using variable payment terms
is that higher rental costs are incurred by retail shops with
higher sales. Variable rent expenses are expected to
continue to represent a similar proportion of retail shops
sales in future years.

Rent concessions

During the prior year ended 31 March 2023, lessors of
various retail stores and department store counters provided
rent concessions to the Group through rent reductions
ranging from 10% to 100% over 1 to 6 months.

These rent concessions occurred as a direct consequence of
Covid-19 pandemic and met all of the conditions in HKFRS
16.46B, and the Group applied the practical expedient not
to assess whether the changes constitute lease
modifications. The effects on changes in lease payments
due to forgiveness or waiver by the lessors for the relevant
leases of HK$3,403,000 were recognised as negative
variable lease payments (included in other income) during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

Impairment assessment

Due to adverse performance of the Group’s retail
operations, the management of the Group concluded there
was indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on recoverable amounts of relevant right-of-use

assets and property, plant and equipment.

The recoverable amount of each cash-generating units has
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group
covering the remaining lease term of each cash-generating
unit with a pre-tax discount rate of 13.5% (2023: 13.5%) as
at 31 March 2024. Another key assumption for the value in
use calculated is the budgeted gross margin, which is
determined based on each cash-generating units’ past
performance and management expectations for the market
development.
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HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

15. EREEE (&) 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
WAE R (&) Impairment assessment (continued)
RETFHER  AEEEEEBRAETREELEEN Based on the result of the assessment, management of the
WAIKRE £ BERAEHREE - REREEFE  RE Group determined that the recoverable amounts of certain
ECE_NE=A=t+—-HLEFECHEREEEN cash-generating units are lower than the carrying amounts.
EME BEERIREZRABI HEREIINRE Based on the value in use calculation, additional
2,893,000t (ZTE == :2,906,0008 7t) & impairment of HK$2,893,000 (2023: HK$2,906,000) and
219,000/8 7T (ZEZ =4 : 372,000/8T) ° HK$219,000 (2023: HK$372,000) has been recognised

against the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment, respectively during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

16. EfNfEE 16. DEPOSITS PAID
—E-MmF e
2024 2023
THERT FTHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
HeRHEMmZRS Rental and other deposits 18,281 20,433
B PEARBEECHESRAM Less: Rental and other deposits classified
Ze (Gt ABKERRR ity as current assets (included in trade
WK (fEE18) W) and other receivables (note 18)) (14,463) (17,203)
3,818 3,230
17. BE& 17. INVENTORIES
—E-MmF e
2024 2023
THERT FTHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
JE 1 Raw materials 1,002 1,076
P Work in progress 477 95
SR m Finished goods 25,794 21,169
27,273 22,340
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HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

18. JE W AR X B2 HL i FE WK 18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—E-E —E-=
2024 2023
FTHET FTHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE W BR X Trade receivables 8,781 9,017
HERHEMRS Rental and other deposits 14,463 17,203
BAARIEB Prepayment 1,256 1,314
H 1t FE WL FR Other receivables 4,145 3,192
28,645 30,726
RBEHR  HRZAHAELNREERE 2B As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
R ZIREBE DM T ¢ trade receivables, based on invoice date and net of loss

allowance, is as follows:

—E_NE ===
2024 2023
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
30A Within 30 days 6,831 6,718
31HZ90H 31 to 90 days 1,513 1,592
91HZ£180H 91 to 180 days 437 707
8,781 9,017
RS HEERERA30290B 28 - AEEEE Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from the
BUR 2 1 — SRR E N M EE29 © invoice date. Further details on the Group’s credit policy

are set out in note 29.
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18. BWARR KR Hth B UK (&)

RIZBE-ME=A=+—H FEEBZEREREH
it FE WA TR B 15 FE W BA B 5 2 45 82 9 B11291,00078 T
—E"=%:1,263,000/%7T) &2,541,0008 T (==
Z =% 11,594,000 )  BRBEELEEREEERY
ENzRAE BAERAAEERVTEEREERR
RRPTESHRLLIZRAF  REAQXABTESHRE
BREEZKS °

AZE_ME=A=+—0  stAXEEEKREREIRA
HBAREE569,0008 T (ZF = =4 : 1,419,000/ 7T)
ZEBIRREAE AEETERZELEHRETEM
KRG e RBERED YU (ZZS-_=F : &)
EEH0BH £ o

B 7 B W AR R e L At BB WK o2 BB RT A v B A B R
29 ©

A 7 S 25 A Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, included in the Group’s trade
receivables and other receivables are balances of
HK$291,000 (2023: HK$1,263,000) and HK$2,541,000
(2023: HK$1,594,000), respectively, due from a related
party, which is a company that Chan Pak Hei, Billy, the son
of Mr. Chan, chairman and executive director of the
Company and Ms. Tsui, an executive director of the
Company, and the brother of Chan Sze Chun, an executive

director of the Company, have significant influence over it.

As at 31 March 2024, included in the Group’s trade
receivables are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$569,000 (2023: HK$1,419,000) which are past due.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. Out of the past due balances, none of them

(2023: nil) has been past due 90 days or more.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other

receivables are set out in note 29.
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HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

19. BB B 7Rk 2 EL 4t FE 3 5K 19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
—E-E —EZ=F
2024 2023
FTHET FTHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE S BRFX Trade payables 5,075 4,501
glEe Deposit received 4,553 2,912
EstE A Accrued charges 11,434 11,385
FEAS BB 2t B 3F 42 R IR R X IR Amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary 1,800 1,800
Hit B Other payables 3,517 3,701
26,379 24,299
REZB-WNE=A=+—H st \ETERARER As at 31 March 2024, included in accrued charges is
BEEHE600,0008B T (ZE==F &) (fi5£24) ° provision for long service payments of HK$600,000 (2023:
ERNHEARFERRRRESEER EERLE Nil) (note 24). The amount due to a non-controlling
[EEZEFHE - shareholder of a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and
has no fixed repayment terms.
RBERAR  REZAHAFEZEBNRRZRE D As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
M trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:
—E_MEF —E-=
2024 2023
THET THERT
HK$’000 HK$’000
30 A Within 30 days 583 542
31HZ90H 31 to 90 days 1,243 437
@90 H Over 90 days 3,249 3,522
5,075 4,501
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HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

20. HERME 20  LEASE LIABILITIES
—BoMmE —BRCo=H
2024 2023
TER THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FENHEHESE: Lease liabilities payable:
—FR Within one year 25,334 23,754
BB—FESEBMNE Within a period of more than one year but
not more than two years 14,483 4,178
BBEMEERSBEALSE Within a period of more than two years but
not more than five years 3,056 459
42,873 28,391
B RBEEMRARI2EAR Less: Amount due for settlement within
RENZEH 12 months shown under current
liabilities (25,334) (23,754)
FRBEBERRRI2MEA % Amount due for settlement after 12 months
BN2E8 shown under non-current liabilities 17,539 4,637
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

21. €& 21. BORROWINGS
—E_NEF —E-=
2024 2023
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RITEX Bank overdrafts 8,775 4,170
EREBBERN Trust receipt loans 5,450 5,630
HiEHRTEE Other short-term bank borrowings 36,500 27,500
50,725 37,300
FELAETERERBEIFR All the above bank borrowings were secured
AETHIHRERE : and repayable as follows:
BEREREBERAEBEZRTSI The carrying amounts of bank loans that
HREZEZRITERZ contain a repayment on demand clause
BREE (Pf&E) : but repayable (Note):
—FR Within one year 50,725 37,300

ML : EARDRBER G R AR EEER
WEF AEMREREEERRZHE

Hﬁﬁﬁﬁ"r"ﬁ '

R-E-WNEF=ZA=+—H FEEZRTEETIN
BRE42/E111,100,000/8 7t (ZZ==% : 121,500,000
BIT)ZEBEERLHREZEYURRENEZEE
HERAQATREZIERIEAKE

FZERITEEANAETRARTWBELARAE
EEHBRRLEREBE2RE REERKLZLH
BEBAESHBERARRAZEARRE  UKEBF
BRETEREQARD 2REBEME - WAKEERE

B2 AIAREREE LAMRTEE - AEEEH
EREABET2ERE2ER EREERBDESRA

MEEE-—DTHBHNAWT 29 - R=ZZFE-_MF=A

=t+-B AEERABAEARTEEZEE (=
Eo=F @) o

= —

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥

Note: The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of
any repayment on demand clause.

As at 31 March 2024, the bank borrowings of the Group
were secured by legal charges over land and buildings held
for own use and investment properties with an aggregate
carrying value of HK$111,100,000 (2023: HK$121,500,000)
and guaranteed by the Company.

The above variable-rate bank borrowings are subject to the
fulfilment of certain covenants relating to the financial
position ratios of a Company’s subsidiary and the Group.
Mr. Chan and Ms. Tsui shall remain as the Directors and
the largest shareholders of the Company and shall comply
with negative pledge obligation in relation to the shares of
the Company. If the Group were to breach the covenants
the above secured bank borrowings would become payable
on demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance
Further details of the Group’s
management of liquidity risk are set out in note 29. As at

with these covenants.

31 March 2024, none of the covenants relating to the
secured bank borrowings had been breached (2023: nil).
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22, BEFRBHR(EE)BE 22. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS) LIABILITIES
RAEFEEFEUBERRARERZELERER (BE) The components of deferred tax (assets) liabilities
EEZEARBIREBEZFHMOT ¢ recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

position and the movements during the year are as follows:
RESREE
NELHE
Depreciation AER
in excess of FREER
the related EfthE Unrealised HAzs RAREE HESR
depreciation Revaluation profits on Write-down Right-of-use Lease st
allowances of properties inventories  of inventories asset liabilities Total
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-E--£mA-A At 1 April 2022 (10,754) 112,595 (712) (829) - - 100,300
HE (Hin2) Adjustment (note 2) - - - - 3,77 (3,277) -
R=2--£MA-A A1 April 2022 (restated)

(£E5)) (10,754) 112,595 (712) (829) 3,277 (3,277) 100,300
EXAE Exchange adjustment - (1,341) - - - - (1,341)
BE G Nk (Credited) charged to profit or

GEIEEL) loss (note 8) (restated) (1617) (4,768) 131 (27) (1,661) 1,661 (6,281)
AR E A Credited to reserves - (419) - - - - (419)
RZZBZ=%=F=1-H At31 March 2023 and

R=2-=£MmA-AH 1 April 2023 (restated)

(&E5) (12,371) 106,067 (581) (856) 1,616 (1,616) 92,259
EXEE Exchange adjustment - 13) - - - - 213)
B (GEA) N (Credited) charged to profit or

(R&Es) loss (note 8) (1,327) (3,799) (185) (155) 1,588 (1,683) (5,561)
RERTA Credited to reserves - (2,927) = = = = (2,927)
HERRR (H3E25) Release upon disposal

(note 25) 1,654 (8,803) - - - - (7,149)
WZBZMEZAZ+-A0 A3 March 2024 (12,044) 90,325 (766) (1,01) 3,204 (3,299) 76,409
Annual Report 2024 4FJE4F # Moiselle International Holdings Limited % ¥ B B 5 [ A5 B 2 w]
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HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

22, EEFEH (EE)BE (&
BER ZETEEMESHEEREBERTHEMRR
RIXH - B BRRMS  AEBEZELEFMER G
DMWMT -

22. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS) LIABILITIES (continued)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax

balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

—E_UE —EC=F
2024 2023
TERT TERT
HK$’000 HK$’000
REGE M HERRRIER 2 Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
BRIEFREREREFH consolidated statement of financial
position (323) (312)
REEMBRRRER 2 Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
RIEFREHREEFHE consolidated statement of financial
position 76,732 92,571
76,409 92,259

RERMEHEBEATBELFETFEEZERS=
FRFEHZFRIE10,019,0008 T (ZFE=Z=F :
4,099,0008 ) - IEHELXFEFERZEEZHEF
WA Z K IE45,508,0008 T (Z 2= =5 :
29,359,0008 ) R BEEBREFERZERS TF
A £ A 2 7X18 3,459,000 T (ZZ = =4 : 5,317,000
BIT) o IRIBINEBIERA » #8%E355,560,000%8 7T (=
T =14 :338,606,00078 t) I FE 2R ER o

RZZE-_ME=A=+—0 AEERVE BER
REZBESRT6,537,0008B T (ZFE=-=F :
18,726,000/ 7T) IR EREZZE - HR A A EEHR
FERF R ETIRNEREZEEREN 2R REER
FREREZERAELHMEHEE -

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥

Included in unrecognised tax losses is an amount of
HK$10,019,000 (2023: HK$4,099,000) which can be
carried forward up to three years from the year in which
the loss was incurred, an amount of HK$45,508,000 (2023:
HK$29,359,000) which can be carried forward up to five
years from the year in which the loss was incurred and an
amount of HK$3,459,000 (2023: HK$5,317,000) which can
be carried forward up to ten years from the year in which
the loss was incurred. The remaining balance of
HK$355,560,000 (2023: HK$338,606,000) does not expire

under the current tax legislation.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has deductible temporary
differences in relation to impairment of property, plant and
equipment of HK$16,537,000 (2023: HK$18,726,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary

differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

R 2 23. SHARE CAPITAL
EERE BHITRA Authorised and issued share capital
“E-WmEF —F-=
2024 2023
RO HA gy 4=
Number £8 Number &5
of shares Amount of shares Amount
TR TET TR TER
000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$’000
EE Authorised:
BREEIBTZEBER Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 1,000,000 10,000 1,000,000 10,000
ERITRAE : Issued and fully paid:
RENRRFR At beginning of the year and
at end of the year 287,930 2,880 287,930 2,880

EBERFEEAEERERFARERZKRE - BEAXRAF
ERLEBRTE-ZRER -FFEEEREEALFZ
NpEEZARSER -

BIKERIGE
AEERBEEECRFHM OB T EKA AR EE
(EEEG) EREENEAZEESHBESE -
BELSTEAHBISTIATE 2 REMHERE NG
2o REBESTE EEIREERAREEFTHAK
AZ5%mzzst &t - B8 AEREWA £R%30,000
BT BESFEZMRTDAKEE -

Annual Report 2024 4FJE4F #

24.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s

residual assets.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group participates in a MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % ¥ B B 5 [ A5 B 2 w]
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24. RIREFIEE (&) 24. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continued)

162

HREARECHEBARE S HEAM S BRFEE 2 REMR
Hatd - WEMBARARTREANMESEEFT 2
B THEELREZEER - HATDENEEE -

REEBEEXBCHBRARAZEECERESHARE

STRASIRAIEE 2 REEKTE - KB RAREA
MBEAEURRTE ZREREFERTEZ6%HE -

FHEMNRERREEE I RBAZEAARKERS
& o

REEKRFTE 2 HRRELERRIEZ AN - BEAMH
FEtEE B HFRRM WS -

W\

REEBEAE7E(RBHEIDINARERE2EH

RAZEREEEBLHBLDMES - RIEE S
#5785 (BEHEA) - ZEBESTFHRT (BmES
RIERREAE) BRBHAARTERBEAER
¢ REEBRESSEZEMD  LDEUATAR
e

RE—ERAZITE (RILEEZA) x 2/3 X RHBF
H

E§T§_1lﬁ|ﬂ ZIELERB2250087T  MERESESEE

Bi838390,000/8 T °c LIEBEHKI BB R R ER
%UaJr%;J)\FE °
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The subsidiaries in Mainland China participate in a defined
contribution scheme organised by the local government.
These subsidiaries are required to make contributions at
certain prescribed rates of the relevant Mainland China
employees’ salaries to the scheme. Contributions to the

scheme vest immediately.

Employees of the subsidiary carrying on business in Taiwan
chose to participate in a defined contribution scheme
governed by the Labour Pension Act of Taiwan. This
subsidiary contributes at 6% of the total salaries of the
participating employees who have chosen to participate in
the defined contribution scheme, the contribution deposited
into individual pension accounts at the Bureau of Labour

Insurance of Taiwan.

Contributions to the defined contribution scheme are
charged to profit or loss when incurred. Details of the

contribution scheme amount are disclosed in note 9.

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57)

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong,

pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay LSP to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong under certain circumstances (e.g.
dismissal by employers or upon retirement), subject to a
minimum of 5 years employment period, based on the

following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) x

2/3 x Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the
amount of long service payment shall not exceed
HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a

post-employment defined benefit plan.
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24, RIRBRIFTE (&)

REEBENE7E(RBHEIDINRERE2EH

(&)

B BE-NWNAEFEB2CREIMEQIE ST K
H) AEBETEASEE 2R MERES KM
L/REFMEARR  RAFEHIEEOES T
ZREBE -

BIRINR-ZE=_F A +LtHAE HEKRTE
REXRFMREESHRBRERSREIRRE
BERRE PGS RERN AR (=2 =-AFHA—A)
EXER-Z—HHE BFFEEL - BEHRT
2 BEZEXVzRREREEEEH ABETHH
BEXE UREEFEERE—ENERLER -

RIBIERTIRA » AREBREG BHEZRFMEES
RN £ R AEAIE, B 5 5 7] 42 4 A LA R )
AffizcRRESEL  EXGEREFTES AHE2
RIR£EHK - B4 EHEHAIZRRS BB EE
BA TREZBEEGHAHARE—EAZIERE
ZZ AL ZRBEFETE - SIRAIE AR EE R S8
BHEtEzEEMEZ2REREEEEMEE MK
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HLFE r5EERY
SR R L EERREIT AR ©
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24.

ZoME=ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continued)
Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment

Ordinance (Chapter 57) (continued)

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the
Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any
positive/negative returns thereof, for the purpose of

offsetting LSP payable to an employee.

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June 2022,
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived
from employers” mandatory MPF contributions to offset the
LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect on the
Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the
Government is also expected to introduce a subsidy scheme
to assist employers for a period of 25 years after the
Transition Date on the LSP payable by employers up to a

certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative
returns, after the Transition Date can continue to be
applied to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but
are not eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP
obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the
Transition Date will be grandfathered and calculated based
on the last monthly wages immediately preceding the
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date. The
Amendment Ordinance has impact on the Group’s LSP
liability with respect to employees that participate in MPF
Scheme and the Group has accounted for the offsetting
mechanism and its abolition during the year ended 31
March 2024.

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % ¥ B B 5 [ A5 B 2 w]
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24, RIRBRIFTE (&)

24. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continued)

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥

RRE&E® LSP obligation
RAEFEZRAMARBREBZHZ 2 RELHUT ¢ Movements in the present value of unfunded LSP obligation
in the current year were as follows:

—E-MOE

2024

TER

HK$’000

PR 7% B AN Service cost 582

R B R A Interest cost 18

HIAR R MR B Closing unfunded obligation 600

R-ZBE-_NE=ZA=1+—-HZGAEB2FHIEFEES
BA7FE -

FREHRBEAARFEHAXFHEBEFTABREZE
ERANAL - FARBEXZER > 102,0008 JT5t A D 85
REHER » 498,000/ TET ATHI R HM &&= o

BERREEB2EARERRABBEARI 5% &
HEHEIBE1 5% R ATEITRESREERE 2 AR
BEH3.40% ° THIBRBREDMIIRAA A tRRE
FEEZBERT  REREBARAZTABRREETER
EZBBMEE -

o (HEEIREEFH (TFH)100EED  BIRBEET
# R 4>79,00078 7T (3 1179,000/8 T) °©

o fHTBHAFRENIZ in CBiA>) 0.5% @ Bl R IR € Z 1%
319,000 7t (F 29,000/ 7T) °

e MMAIHTEBETRERTHEMKRERKREH
(FEE)S0EER  BIRREEZH R 1,000
Jt (01,0008 7T) °

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 March
2024 is 7 years.

The current service cost and the net interest expense for the
year are included in the employee benefits expenses in
profit or loss. Of the expenses for the year, HK$102,000
has been included in distribution and selling expenses and
HK$498,000 has been included in administrative and other
operating expenses.

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of
the LSP obligation are discount rate of 3.75%, expected
salary increase of 1.45% and expected investment return on
offsetable MPF accrued benefits of 3.40%. The sensitivity
analysis below have been determined based on reasonably
possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at
the end of the reporting period, while holding all other
assumptions constant.

e If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher (lower),
the LSP obligation would decrease by HK$79,000
(increase by HK$79,000).

e If the expected salary increases (decreases) by 0.5%,
the LSP obligation would increase by HK$9,000
(decrease by HK$9,000).

e If the expected investment return on offsetable MPF
contribution is 50 basis points higher (lower), the LSP
obligation would decrease by HK$1,000 (increase by
HK$1,000).
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25. HEHBEA A 25.
RZE_=FFA=1H  A&EELEHENBE QT
EERERAT ((HEE]) -HEREWB AT RIESR
KORYDBRAR ([HED (BIHESEE] R
ERAMzEEFENT

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 30 May 2023, the Group disposed of a subsidiary, Busy
Win International Limited (“Busy Win”). The net assets of
Busy Win and its subsidiary, Ming Fung Garment
Manufacturing (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“Ming Fung”)
(collectively referred to as “Busy Win Group”) at the date of
disposal were as follows:

THET
EWAE : Consideration received: HK$'000
SWREREWRAEARE Cash received and total consideration received 22,396
—E-=
FH=+H
30 May 2023
REEGEZEEREED T : Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control FHT
was lost: HK$’000

M BEREE Property, plant and equipment 31,469
EIEFTEHRERE Deferred tax assets 1,654
H 1 & UK Other receivables 7
HuhE R Other payables (6)
RERBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents _x
EEEEFE Net assets disposed of 33,124
HERESEZES ! Loss on disposal of Busy Win Group:

2R E Consideration received 22,396
BEEEEFE Net assets disposed of (33,124)
HERBERBHELFEEN2BERSE  Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve upon

disposal of Ming Fung to profit or loss 7,251

HEEE Loss on disposal (3,477)
HEEEZRERAEE Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

HERE Cash consideration 22,396
HEBHEZRERREEEY Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of =

22,396

* {KA1,0008 T

& Less than HK$1,000
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25. HENRBLQT (&) 25. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
HERESERBARGBREZEERHLAES Statutory reserve funds of HK$4,024,000 and property
4,024,0008 TR Y EE L FHEH28,773,000/8 T © revaluation reserve of HK$28,773,000 were transferred to
HEREEEMBRESHFEBR I MREENS accumulated losses upon disposal of Busy Win Group.
B2 IEEFISH 8E 58,803,000/ 5T ° Deferred tax liabilities of HK$8,803,000 relating to

revaluation of land and buildings held for own use was

reversed as a result of the disposal of Busy Win Group.

26. REERE 26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
RZZ-—HF+A AEEREE-ZWEBRAR (& In October 2015, a subsidiary of the Group in Hong Kong
BHEAR ] BB HIER — A H R REERE (the “Hong Kong Subsidiary”) received a notice that it was
ERERTHRES S AR EAM2ERSRRIEREIE being sued by a fabric manufacturer under a writ of
IREER S c EALEREEEMSKERD ERE summons in the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
BEBWBLR HRRRAENBEZEREUBR Administrative Region in respect of alleged infringement of
RTZBHHAREARE BERBAREEERREL copyright. The generally indorsed writ of summons was
MEARAEMEE - AEBECZEIIREMABERER subsequently served on the Hong Kong Subsidiary but the
BREGR  ESKEERAEBZIRAEZMERE statement of claim has not yet been served up to the date of
R-FUR-EB-_NFER-_B_=F=ZA=+—A% issue of these consolidated financial statements and the
ERMEEARIREE - Hong Kong Subsidiary continues to deny any liability in

respect of the above claim. An external counsel has been
engaged to defend the said claim and the Directors will
continue to seek advice from the Group’s external counsel.
No provision has therefore been made in respect of this
claim as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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27. REBEERH 27. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
AEEEHHBEA The Group as lessor

TURERAE CBUCABRREENRESINOT :

A 7 S 25 A Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

Undiscounted lease payments receivable under

non-cancellable leases are as follows:

—E-mF —E-=
2024 2023
THET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
—F R Within one year 3,502 3,887
ETHE In the second year 3,357 3,619
EF= In the third year 3,448 3,427
FHE In the fourth year 1,958 3,510
FEHEF In the fifth year _ 2,048
12,265 16,491

FHREE-RIOSAT - FELF - FEKLERSY
TeEExEdAE-

Annual Report 2024 4FJE4F #

The leases typically run for an initial period of one to seven

years. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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28. ELEMBERE
AEEEREERACHEEAEDRERAEERAEER
BRESEREELE  HMmEREERKKEREEZ
EMRBREEERUGERTESHE  BEARR
AIERISRE A HEMBHESF LR -

AEFERYENEHNEEAEREE  UESKR
ROBESEENRFNERRRTRNZEREE
REZEHIREFE  TEREESERENBICHERR
BAEHAE -

R-ZZB-WNEHE AEBRA-ZST - =F 2K
ERHEAEBULARTBRSKTELSRBESR
T BHESARE KT  AEBAARKNS TR
RZBRESE BOHRG SEHEEMEIHE
BEEUEMEBESKFE o
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28.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk

and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in

economic conditions.

During 2024, the Group’s strategy in monitoring its capital
structure, which was unchanged from 2023, was to
maintain a sufficient cash level to meet its liquidity
requirements. In order to maintain or adjust the cash level,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends payable to
shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt financing or
sell assets to increase the cash level.
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29. €@ T H 29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
ERMIAZER Categories of financial instruments
—E_ME —E==
2024 2023
THET FTHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
cREE Financial assets
1 55 B A Amortised cost 54,765 46,417
cHEE Financial liabilities
B A Amortised cost 106,032 77,677

TREREENENREE

FE -RBES MEXREBERDEREEEE 2
EREBBREPELE - AEEAAE2ZEABRRA
SEEEZSRABMRAZHBEREERRRES
BN T e

= Em R R E 1

FEBZFERBRERREBKIRK - bR -
RERBTEER - AEBLEFHEAERRB A
FEIERER  UBEZESLREERBNEERR

AEBEFHREHF S RERTEEMSAERES
BRBIANBEREERBREGESUBRRERARE
HERATHMEENIREE -
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, other receivables, deposits and bank balances.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with these
financial assets.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % ¥ B B 5 [ A5 B 2 w]
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29. SWMI A (£&) 29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

170

TEEREENENRBE(E)

=B m R R E TS ()
SEHETEURSELET  URE  TRFAE
RAFEER- - REEREERABYERREBA (EER
ERFHE BELARES BR2EERR £
SEEEECRIRNEAREBIIFERE  FEEH
R H BRI - LR R SR ERER E 4R e W B B (B
He b REBEHR  AEEEEERNEEE
AEBNTKREEE LRI TRESEEELE
HHRERE - AEBHEYRFERAEHLEFEER
BMBHRELENERARENHEREERE - A5
ERBERAENEURINEREESE &%
BHAEHFHERAABEETR L2 EBEENRT
% - BUWIRRE AT E & &5 A B A8 iR 2
METEBIF (G - HHMEEBERDRBEEWIRAE
SAEHMABERRENRMMGE  URBARERL
SR AN TR BN AT 15 K AT RE 1 B R (40 2 BR R 75
ABRERETXEREERRNENRBARRRE
BE)VELAE - AKEEBEEEBZZSREMEE LT
HBESAMNENRBNRRES -
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables

Retail sales are mainly on a cash basis, either in cash, debit
card or credit card payments. In order to minimise the
credit risk in regard of balances with trade receivables
debtors, which mainly consist of credit card institutions,
department stores and malls, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the management of the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group applies simplified approach on trade
receivables to assess for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9. To
measure ECL of trade receivables at amortised cost, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its counterparties
and they are assessed individually by reference to past
default experience, current past due exposure of the
debtors and an analysis of the debtors’ current financial
position. The ECL rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information (for
example, the current and forecasted global economy which
reflect the general economic conditions of the industry in
which the debtors operate) that is available without undue
cost or effort. Such forward-looking information is used by
the management of the Group to assess both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date.

Annual Report 2024 44 #i



A 7 S 25 A Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

29. SWMI A (£&) 29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

TEEREENENRBE(E)

=B m R R E TS ()

FEW AR5 ()

ERAFERURAZEFERBAR  BEAHFLRER
ERTAEBEERSIINEATRNIERT SHIMH

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The credit risk on credit card receivables is limited because

the counterparties are bank/financial institutions with high

BoRNBREHR  WEBWRN ZEEREZE (= external credit ratings assigned by international
Eo=FE) W AEBEEERS  RBE credit-rating agencies. As at the end of the reporting period,

BARNEH EH2EL TREENE - LRISAEM
EREEEE  BESRERKERATKE - ES
AEABEREZAERBELFEX - Bl 02KT
3 o

AEERERRERAHEFEERAR RS -_NF
EA=Et+—H AEBIREAEFIREAEFH
HEWRBRRD B B14% (ZFE=_=F : 14%) K51%
(ZBZ=F:140%) - AEBEEERERZSY
FHNBREFERR -

B #EE A BN B EE
MREMERRAREERAMZEEME ESREBEE
PHEERE  BAEKCRURFMESER IFEATEME
BR - ERHBEREHOTWDEMEETEBE - E
BHE AEEEMERRRIZ SR EES R E
BEXREEFERR REAKEEERE 27 - 2l
BUHRRZEE2ABEEBFRELFEKN -

there is no credit-impaired balance of trade receivables
(2023: nil). In addition, the management of the Group
considers those not credit-impaired trade receivables were
collectible based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the debtors and adjusted for
forward-looking information. The Directors are of the
opinion that allowance for impairment on the remaining
trade receivables was insignificant and thus negligible to be

made.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on the trade
receivables. As at 31 March 2024, 14% (2023: 14%) of
trade receivables is due from the Group’s largest
counterparty and 51% (2023: 40%) of trade receivables is
due from the five largest counterparties. The management
of the Group closely monitors the subsequent settlement by

the counterparties.

Other financial assets at amortised costs

For other receivables and rental and other deposits, the
Directors make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of significant balances based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also available
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The Directors believe that there is no material credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of other
receivables and deposits. Based on assessment by the
management of the Group, the ECL for other receivables

and deposits is insignificant.
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29. SWMI A (£&) 29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

172

TEEREENENRBE(E)

=B m R R E TS ()
Bt g At E T HEZE (F)

RITHEBRERRE TEEFRES Y BESREFN
RUTEEE MESRR/ZASATIREBENEE

E B B -

REELEE

RZB-_ME=ZA=+—H AEEZRBEEEB
ERBEEN24,456,0008 L (Z B == F :
18,659,000/87T) c BE-—ZE-_MWF=A=+—H1t
FE > AEEEELEESRER6,390,0008 T (=
T-=%:6,184,0008 ) R _-_MWF=AH
=t-—H AEEFEEZReRRSESEYAES
23,558,000 T (ZFBE==4 : 13,775,000 7T) R &
BABRTREN16,2250008 T (ZFE=Z=F:

31,357,000/ J5) °

AEEZERAECHEERDESTE - UBRHESE
FRARSHE UENEREHMZADESTE -

TRETAEERBEHREREE 2B TIINEH
i WARTHARTRRESTH (BIEBERITYEER
AHEZAEXE  HMEFEER RBREHAREH

ZERGTHEZANEXIH)ESNELE -

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Other financial assets at amortised costs (continued)

The bank balances are placed in various authorised
financial institutions either with high credit ratings or good
financial background and the Directors consider the credit

risk of such authorised financial institutions is low.

Liquidity risk

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$24,456,000
(2023: HK$18,659,000). For the year ended 31 March 2024,
the Group generated operating cash flows of approximately
HK$6,390,000 (2023: HK$6,184,000). As at 31 March 2024,
the total cash and cash equivalents of HK$23,558,000
(2023: HK$13,775,000) were held by the Group and
unutilised bank facilities amounted to approximately
HK$16,225,000 (2023: HK$31,357,000) were available.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and

longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash outflows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on

rates current at the end of the reporting period).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As the Directors do not expect the banks would exercise
the rights to demand repayment, the bank borrowings
subject to repayment on demand clause are expected to be
repayable based on the specific repayment terms. Hence,
for these bank borrowings, the following tables show the
contractual undiscounted cash outflows according to the
specific repayment terms and, separately, the impact to the
timing of the cash outflows if the lenders were to invoke
their unconditional rights to call the loans with immediate

effect.
Z2ImE
2024
ARRFTRRER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

-4 WEk

mE¥H BWER EIFR

Fz  EEEA More than ~ More than
Weighted K55 —%E®  1yearbut 2 years hut REE
average On Within ~ lessthan less than @3 Carrying
interest rate demand 1 year 2 years 5 years Total amounts
TR TR TERL TR TER TR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ERERBERIAR Bank borrowings subject to
ZBATRE repayment on demand
clauses:

HitEEEE Other short-terms borrowings 6.33% - 53,602 - - 53,602 50,725
FE{TER TN I E A BT 30 Trade and other payables TEAN/A = 12,434 = = 12,434 12,434
HEEE Lease liabilities 5.96% - 27,117 15,141 3,154 45,412 42,873

- 93153 15,141 3154 111448 106,032
REEFAZEXDE Adjustments to disclose cash
EREAUBTER flows on bank borrowings
REREREZAR based on lender's right to
demand repayment 50,725 (53,602) - - (2,877) =
Azt Total 50,725 39,551 15,141 3,154 108,571 106,032
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HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

29. €@ T E (&) 29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
SRRAREENE N RBER (&) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
TEE L E R () Liquidity risk (continued)
—EC=E
2023
ANARRRER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—Fi& MER
¥ BRER BEFR
FE  BEEEXN More than ~ More than
Weighted e —&E®  Tyearbut 2 yearsbut BREE
average On Within -~ lessthan  less than @i Carrying
interest rate demand 1 year 2 years 5 years Total amounts

TER TR TR TR TER TER
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TRERBERIER Bank borrowings subject to

ZBRTEE: repayment on demand

clauses:

HitEHifEE Other short-terms borrowings 4.53% - 38,776 - - 38,776 37,300
ERRERREMESH Trade and other payables TER N/A - 11,986 - - 11,986 11,986
HEAE Lease liabilities 3.27% - 24094 4,215 461 28,770 28,391

- 74,856 4,215 461 79,532 77,677
REEFAZEXDE Adjustments to disclose cash
EEEAURTHEE flows on bank borrowings
RERERE AR based on lender's right to
demand repayment 37,300 (38,776) - - (1,476) =
@t Total 37,300 36,080 4,215 461 78,056 77,677
Fi &z Bz Interest rate risk
AEENRERENZABTIEEFZERTEHEERR The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
THSEAR - AEEEBRER KT RASFTMEE variable rate bank borrowing and bank balances. The
ANEZSBELENEELEMERELN XA R - §12 Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the
BB EERFEEENLLALEREREAEBEER potential impact arising from any interest rate movements
SEEE - based on interest rate level and outlook. The management
will review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and
variable rates and ensure they are within reasonable range.
AEEZAXREBEIERBFIEEHEAE - The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its

variable rate financial liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile of

BRI EER the Group’s interest-bearing financial assets and
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period:
—E_E —E-=HE
2024 2023
BRAR BRFI=
Effective TER Effective FET
interest rate $’000 interest rate $’000
THINEZEHESE Variable rate financial liabilities
—-5E& - Borrowings 6.01% % to 3.64% & to
6.70% 50,725 5.15% 37,300

(i) BEEE 7
RZE_WNFE=ZA=1+—H 5 RRZERRE
D EIM0EES  MEMFAEIERZERT
B HAXEB2RHEREBERRTEBRKR
D IN#85,000/8 T (ZFE == : 62,000/
JT) °

LRBBRESMIIBRRRBESHRERITEZE
BMIAREERTE SHAKENKRHEER
REFBRERNFRIECLEMRS - AREE
BYEFERGEUBRRANDAETEZE
AERTR BEBAINALBERES TAMRT
KWL ARERNERRE - EEERS  ARFRZ
Bl RERRBBFEZRR  SRESMEE
BRERERN S EEARME

(ii) Sensitivity analysis
As at 31 March 2024, it is estimated that a general
decrease/increase of 20 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s loss after tax and
accumulated losses by approximately HK$85,000
(2023: HK$62,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the annualised
impact on the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated
losses that is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. The
analysis does not take into account exposure to fair
value interest rate risk arising from fixed rate
instruments as the Group does not hold any fixed rate
instruments which are measured at fair value in the
consolidated financial statements. In management’s
opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the relevant

years.
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HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

29. @@ T E (#&)

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

TEEREENENRBE(E)

E#mpeE

ETEURAREMERRARBTESRUEESEE
BB REE B UINNINEFHE - B S EEE N
B o AEE B A EINEEPBUR - AT 0 BEEE
EEIMERE - WRFEREZBEHERINMNERMS

(i) FREZEERE
FEBUMNETTENEREEREERREHR
HAREENT :

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Currency risk

Certain trade receivables and payables and bank balances
are denominated in foreign currencies other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entities, which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency

exposure should the need arises.

(i)  Exposure to currency risk
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end

of the reporting periods are as follows:

BE a8f&
Assets Liabilities
—E-mF —E=2-= —E-NE Z—E-=

2024 2023 2024 2023
THERT TERT TET THERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Euros = - (597) (626)
BT Hong Kong dollars 68,615 67,987 (61,068) (65,509)
ARHE Renminbi 4 4 (2,509) (2,394)

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥
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29, @@ T E (&)
cREREENENREBEE (&)

BE¥EE (1E
(ii)  BEE B

TRERFEBERBREPHREAERRR 2/
EXREHSBHULIKEHBREABERRTNE

HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Currency risk (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the instantaneous change

in the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated losses

BrlREE  ERRACEBRSFBERTE - that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the
group entities have significant exposure at the end of
the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant.

“ECRE - St 2
2024 2023
Ex Ex
th BHR&ER L BREER
(F&) i BER (PR #h 2iER
Increase (HD)  BmGED) Increase By B0
(decrease) Increase Increase (decrease) Increase Increase
in foreign (decrease)  (decrease) in in foreign (decrease)  (decrease) in
exchange inloss  accumulated exchange inloss  accumulated
rates after tax losses rates after tax losses
TER THERL TEL TARL
HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B Euros 10% 50 50 10% 52 52
(10%) (50) (50) (10%) (52) (52)
BT Hong Kong dollars 5% (70) (70) 5% 127 127
(5%) 70 70 (5%) (127) (127)
N Renminbi 5% 105 105 5% 100 100
(5%) (105) (105) (5%) (100) (100)
EEERS HARFAZEBAERREBFEZR In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
B BRESTEEEINMERET S WERRME o unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the relevant years.
AY /-] Fair values
REENAE2ESM T AYREEN -2 All financial instruments that are measured at amortised
FR-ZBZ=ZF=ZA=T-—HZARBTERERE cost are carried at amounts not materially different from
R SREHE - their fair values as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

30. FEFBERS 30. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
BE-Z-NE=ZF=+—HLFE *5ERZE During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered
EFEHEBAEITLHEEZ HRAEEE into new lease arrangements in respect of retail stores and
24,414,000 T (ZZ == :1,135,000/8 Tt) & office. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
E51523,967,0008 7T (CE==4:1,111,00087T) HK$24,414,000 (2023: HK$1,135,000) and HK$23,967,000
DRIENEERBIFTER i AEBRFARE (2023: HK$1,111,000) respectively were recognised at the
BT D REREAEEEREESR®E19,026,000/8 commencement of the leases. Furthermore, the Group
Tt (ZZEZ =% 6,525,000/ 7T) % 18,822,000/ JT recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
(ZB==4 :6,443,0008T) ° HK$19,026,000 (2023: HK$6,525,000) and HK$18,822,000

(2023: HK$6,443,000), respectively, in relation to lease

modification during the year.

31. MBALRE gk 31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
REERe i ERREME T MEE2RE K& In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
S REBFLTHERBBALTZRS ! elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the

Group entered into the following material related party

transactions:

(@ EBREBRAAZRS (@) Transactions with related companies

—E-E —E=F

2024 2023

FTHET FTHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

§5 4 B o] R B Sales of fashion apparel 1,490 5211
EIBREEZHEMAX Rental expense for staff quarter (560) (1,200)
REYMEZHESKRA Rental income from investment properties 198 276
R E WA Service fee income 945 1,208
REERX Service fee expense (238) (32)
5 B B 1) IR & Purchase of fashion apparel (2,631) -
HEBR AR (ZAQATEBEEEBAER HEE Sales, rental income, rental expense, service fee
REEIERBEFHRIEALE)TLZEE income and service fee expense with related
HEWA - HEAX - RBEBWARREER< companies, which were controlled or significantly
DETHNLHERR ZRREE - influenced by the Company’s key management

personnel and/or their close family members, were at

terms mutually agreed by the parties concerned.
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31. ABALRB 4tk () 31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES (continued)
by FEEEAEME (b) Key management personnel remuneration
TEEBEASHE (CRMFE10PTHE T T A Remuneration for key management personnel,
NEHMTESZHE (TEERRER2ESES representing amounts paid to the Company’s executive
ZBYEFN))WT : directors excluding the benefits in kind regarding the

provision of a rental free quarter, as disclosed in note

10, is as follows:

—E-mE —E-=F
2024 2023

FTHET FTHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

EHEEREA Short-term employee benefits 8,020 7,790
BREESER Post-employment benefits o o
8,074 7,844
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HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

32.

METHFEEEBEZHR

32.

TRELASERETHFELERBE2EDHHE &
FRRERFRSED METDFELEGERRER
RARKRBRERERAEEAZGERERERADE

ARETHREREZEE -

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of

cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

ERFE HERE
Interest Lease EE #ct
payable liabilities  Borrowings Total
TEx TExT THEx THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(HEE20) (FHEE21)
(note 20) (note 21)
R-ZEBE--FTAE—H At 1 April 2022 - 56,359 12,917 69,276
B Exchange adjustment = (925) = (925)
AFHE New lease entered = 1,111 - 1,111
REALHEESYN Early termination of lease
contracts - (300) - (300)
ETREKRT Modification of lease terms = 6,443 = 6,443
20198 MAEHFEEESER Covid-19 related rent
concessions - (3,403) - (3,403)
R E /KA Finance cost recognised 1,238 879 - 2,117
BERERE Financing cash flows (1,238) (31,773) 24,383 (8,628)
RZBZ=F=A=1+-HR At 31 March 2023 and
“E-_=FMA—H 1 April 2023 - 28,391 37,300 65,691
R Exchange adjustment = (163) = (163)
HIVE ik New lease entered = 23,967 = 23,967
REALHEESYN Early termination of lease
contracts - (395) - (395)
CHEN L S Modification of lease terms - 18,822 = 18,822
EREEARE KA Finance cost recognised 2,919 1,497 - 4,416
RERLTHE Financing cash flows (2,919) (29,246) 13,425 (18,740)
R-Z-mE=f=+-8 At 31 March 2024 - 42,873 50,725 93,598
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY
Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2024 and 31 March 2023 are set out below, the class of

33. ARFFTEMBARAZFHE

R-E_WNFE=A=+—HRZE-_=F=A=1+—
B AEEZEENBEAR ZEBERHIN T K
BEBEN EE2RMBROATER

d0

shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated:

BRARAR
R%/iR
MR BXeHE FEEEERE
REEhY Particulars of issued and Attributable
NEER Place of incorporation  fully paid-up share/ equity interest to EX:3 3
Name of company and operation registered capital the Group Principal activity
ZECNFE CZEC-=F
2024 2023
Moiselle (BVI) Limited ABERREE 2,008 REEIXT 100% 100%  REER
British Virgin Islands 2,000 shares of US$1 each Investment holding
EERRLA o 50,0008 B 3 100% 100%  FEEBERGRES
Beautirich Limited Hong Kong 500,000 shares Retail of fashion apparel
and accessories
FUHBRHBERAT Bk BEERZR 100% 100%  NREBRAEER
Boo Gie Garment Factory Limited Hong Kong 200,0008 fx 17 Sourcing of materials and
EBR property holding
1,800,001 R &3
Deferred non-voting
200,000 shares
Ordinary
1,800,001 shares
WERERRAF B2 10,0008 8 100% 100%  WEEE
Landwin Investments Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares Property holding
FH(BR)BRLT 3 1,000,008 18 100% 100%  BEBHRSREN
Moiselle (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares Retail of fashion apparel
and accessories
Moiselle Singapore Pte. Ltd. R 500,000 B REE 100% 100%  BERE R RELS
Singapore 13 Retail of fashion apparel
500,000 shares of SG$1 and accessories
each
ZERRAF ABERRES IREEIXT 100% 100%  BERHERHRES
Onexcel Limited British Virgin Islands 1 share of US§1 Retail of fashion apparel
and accessories
BRZREARAT B2 500,000 K 100% 100%  FERERHRES
Pearl Jade Investments Limited Hong Kong 500,000 shares Retail of fashion apparel
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33. ARFRETEMBAR 215 (&)

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

BRIRAR
R/
A 1 A ER#E AREEERE
REBEHE Particulars of issued and Attributable
NEER Place of incorporation fully paid-up share/ equity interest to TEEHR
Name of company and operation registered capital the Group Principal activity
“B-MmE —BC-=F
2024 2023
REARERAT &t 500,0008 B 100% 100%  BEREBHRES
Perfect National International Limited Hong Kong 500,000 shares Retail of fashion apparel
and accessories
RK Moiselle Fashions Limited i 1,4295% R 7 70% 70% MBS RO RES
Hong Kong 1,429 shares Wholesale of fashion
apparel and accessories
BERERRAF R 1,008 B 100% 100%  W¥EAE
Shirley Investments Limited Hong Kong 1,000 shares Property holding
ERERERAT RF M E%25,000 100% 100%  BERHRHRES
Treasure Light Fashion Limited Macau BT Retail of fashion apparel
Registered capital and accessories
MOP25,000
ANEXERTERRAF" PENH AB#2,000,0007T 100% 100%  FERKBEH
Shen Zhen Graceful Fashion Retail Limited Mainland China RMB2,000,000 TRER N Fo e
Company* Retail and wholesale of
fashion apparel and
accessories
HEBE (RY) RRAF PERH 8,400,00078 7T 100% 100%  BEAK
Yubao Fashionable Dress (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* ~ Mainland China HK$8,400,000 Manufacturing of garments
AT AR BE R R R T ERD AR#10,0007T 100% 100%  WEEE
Shenzhen Qianhai Xiaofeng Fashion Design Co., Mainland China RMB10,000 Property holding

Ltd.*

* REPEEGEMZIBRERSE -

* These are foreign investment enterprises registered under the
laws of the PRC.

PWEFE SEMNEAREBTENELRES - None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of both years.
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HEZTZMH=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY
—E_NEF —E-=
2024 2023
THERT TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
FRBEE Non-current assets
RHEBARZERE Investments in a subsidiary 61,671 61,671
FEUWRHT B A Bl FRIE Amount due from a subsidiary 198,000 200,000
259,671 261,671
REBEE Current assets
H 1 FE U R Other receivables 135 103
JE W B 1B 2 B R IR Amount due from a subsidiary 2,204 6,258
RITHEBRRRE Bank balances and cash 51 53
2,390 6,414
RBAE Current liability
H At B 3K Other payables 1,066 1,055
REBEEEE Net current assets 1,324 5,359
EEFE Net assets 260,995 267,030
EXREE Capital and reserves
@ Share capital 2,880 2,880
i Reserves 258,115 264,150
BRREDEHE Total equity 260,995 267,030

Annual Report 2024 4EJ£4#  Moiselle International Holdings Limited ¢ &% B B 4 [ 45 FR 4 7 183



184

Ao 7 T 25 A Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-T-MF=F=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2024

34. AR FZ2HBRREK (&)

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

KRR RE2LE : Movement in the Company’s reserves:
LS
IR 63 33 B BERRR RE A EREH
Share Contributed Retained Total
premium surplus profits equity
TET FET TExT TET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(BiE()) (Bt =£ (i)
(note (i) (note (ii))
RZE-__FWTE—H At 1 April 2022 65,327 61,572 143,349 270,248
FRAZHERFXBE Total comprehensive expense
for the year - = (6,098) (6,098)
R-B-=ZF=ZA=+—-HK At 31 March 2023 and
—E-=FMNA—H 1 April 2023 65,327 61,572 137,251 264,150
FRAZHERFXBE Total comprehensive expense
for the year = = (6,035) (6,035)
R-B-m&E=A=+-A At 31 March 2024 65,327 61,572 131,216 258,115

B &E -

() RERESREARZE ROEERVIKTAAH

Notes:

ZBRR - EEERESIKRE BHE  AQREND
BREIRIMAEEREEBBEPELEZEH -
FRADGRE IR AT ABITRB AR 2B RNEH DK ©

(i) EHEHERARER-"ZT2-F-A-1THAEX

ZEEEAMREZHBLARAER 2N EEEE
BERAFAMUEFERREZERTROZEBEZE
o BHBRSZAZEARMEEMR -

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥

(i)

In accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium account is distributable to
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The
share premium may also be distributed in the form of fully
paid bonus shares.

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the
then combined net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued
in exchange thereof pursuant to a group reorganisation which
became effective on 25 January 2002. The application of
contributed surplus is the same as the share premium.
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it 31k
Address

=8

A

RIGEBE145%

EHE

1T DSR &

Shop D on G/F

Bo Ming Court

14 Tin Hau Temple Road
North Point

Hong Kong

58

NLEE

RAE

BEMET81-875%

SEBIXERE

8EARBE

Factory Units A & B on 8th Floor,
Island Industrial Building,
Nos. 81-87 Tung Chau Street
Tai Kok Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

REDRYI

BHE

T B R R EE B

SHERES
41#B4101BER4102E

Units 4101B & 4102 on 41st Floor,
Excellence Times Plaza

Yitian Road and Fuhua Road
Futian District

Shenzhen, the PRC

Annual Report 2024 4FJE4F #

SRS SETE S

Properties held for Investment

RERAR FHHA

Existing use Lease term

5 BHEE

Shop Short lease

B FHEE
Warehouse Medium-term lease
WAE AR

Office Medium-term lease

Moiselle International Holdings Limited % ¥ B B 5 [ A5 B 2 w]
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(S ETE S

Properties held for Investment

33k REAR H
Address Existing use Lease term

(d) HFERIHAREAEIXE

REEREF1.6E33CR3IDE N
(d) Units 3C and 3D on 3rd Floor,

Tianfa Building, F1.6

Tian’an Chegongmiao

Industrial Zone,

Shenzhen, the PRC Office Medium-term lease

it

RS

(e) FEFRIMAZREABIXBARLAE

H2.8FE5#5A5 ~ 5A6 » 5A7R5A8F ~ 61£6A5 ~ 6A6

6A7R6ABZE AR 7H7A9 » 7A10 » 7AT1 »

7A12 ~ 7A13R7AT14E B REEE
(e) Flats 5A5, 5A6, 5A7 and 5A8 on 5th Floor,

Flats 6A5, 6A6, 6A7 and 6A8 on 6th Floor

and Flats 7A9, 7A10, 7A11, 7A12, 7A13 and

7A14 on 7th Floor, Jiutai Apartment H2.8,

Tian’an Chegongmiao

Industrial Zone,

Shenzhen, the PRC Quarter Medium-term lease

H  HERTELE
N E B = 8 (BB EE L)

16/B16H3%E DB FHIHE
(f) Unit 16H on 16th Floor,

Qianhai Kerry Commercial Centre Phase 2 (Qianhai Kerry Centre),

Nanshan District, Shenzhen, the PRC Apartment Medium-term lease
R-ZE-_MWEF=ZA=+—H BEREVEZEELS Properties held for investment occupied approximately 37,000
37,0005 5 R ° square feet in area at 31 March 2024.
R-ZE-_NMF=F=+—H HFEALHREEYZE Land and buildings held for own use occupied approximately
BH #44,0005F F R - 44,000 square feet in area at 31 March 2024.
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LT AAREESE-_SE-_NE="A=T—HLARFFES

FEHBREEUREEREBZIHE -

The following is a summary of the published results and assets
and liabilities of the group for each of the five years ended 31

AF% 1 S 25 1t 2

Group Financial Summary

March 2024.
E RESULTS
BE=ZA=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 March
—ENFE —ZEZ= —E-C B ZEBTERF
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
TExT THET THET TR THEx
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
g 2% Revenue 137,311 127,946 138,526 127,283 191,604
ReEBE Loss from operations (29,286) (24,980) (44,469) (29,078)  (119,134)
& R A Finance costs (4,416) (2,117) (2,510) (4,838) (4,824)
TR EEMUR Net valuation (losses) gains on
REMF* 2 GE land and buildings and
(BiE) R B8 investment properties (16,136) (21,768) 5,984 14,319 (25,425)
BRELAIE B Loss before taxation (49,838) (48,865) (40,995) (19,597)  (149,383)
PiREY Income tax 1,728 5,964 48 (3,608) 2,917
FREE Loss for the year (48,110) (42,901) (40,947) (23,205)  (146,466)
THALELR: Attributable to:
AAREERR Equity shareholders of
the company (48,100) (42,857) (40,718) (22,751)  (146,694)
FERER Non-controlling interests (10) (44) (229) (454) 228
FREE Loss for the year (48,110) (42,901) (40,947) (23,205)  (146,466)
BRER Loss per Share
BEPIN Basic HK$(0.17)B %  HK$(0.15ET  HKS(0.14)8x  HK$(0.08)Bx HK$(0.51)8 T
BRER Dividends per share - - - -
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Group Financial Summary

EERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
R=A=+—H
At 31 March
ZE-NE —ZZ-= —E-C ZEZ - ZEBEERF
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
TER TET THET TET TET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000
M- BERRE Property, plant and equipment
URBREYE and investment properties 480,525 558,533 602,165 677,136 631,325
HEE Other assets 36,814 18,338 39,125 39,098 48,517
EEMBHEE Deferred tax assets 323 312 243 351 566
REBEERE Net current liabilities (24,456) (18,659) (8,338) (57,042) (24,850)
BEEABERABEE Total assets less current
liabilities 493,206 558,524 633,195 659,543 655,558
FREBEE Non-current liabilities (94,271) (97,208)  (118,382)  (127,588)  (125,020)
EEFE NET ASSETS 398,935 461,316 514,813 531,955 530,538
iR 2 Share capital 2,880 2,880 2,880 2,880 2,880
fitts Reserves 397,312 459,683 513,136 530,049 528,178
AR R IRREN Total equity attributable
BRREER to equity shareholder of
the company 400,192 462,563 516,016 532,929 531,058
R E S Non-controlling interests (1,257) (1,247) (1,203) (974) (520)
HRRER TOTAL EQUITY 398,935 461,316 514,813 531,955 530,538
BREEFE Net assets per share HK$1.39%8 7% HK$1.60B7x HK$1.79% 7 HKS$1.85 T HKS1.8438 T

Moiselle International Holdings Limited %% i B B 4 M A R 2 ¥
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